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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFRS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”)
of Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the “Company”), |
presented to you the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$18.8 million, compared to a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$91.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2019. The Group recorded a decrease in loss
of approximately HK$72.5 million attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020. Such decrease
was mainly attributable to a decrease in loss arising in change in
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$72.0 million.

PROSPECTS

2020 has been a challenging year for all of us, and the board
would like to use this opportunity to wish you and your family
good health, happiness, success, and prosperity in 2021.
COVID-19 pandemic had forced us to adapt to changes that
we never thought of. Different nations have opted to take strict
measures to contain the outbreak of COVID-19, and this has
led to several industries taking a catastrophic hit, millions of jobs
disappeared.

With the pandemic disrupting the world, governments worldwide
deployed various relief packages to keep the disruption minimal,
and this has helped stabilize the economy. With the extension
of the relief packages, the rollout of the COVID-19 vaccine, and
low-interest rates, economic activity continues to improve. With
sectors that were heavily affected by lockdowns starting to revive,
many analysts believe this could fuel for another rise in equities.
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Although the board remains positive on the outlook, the board
will remain conservative and selective in its investment. The board
believes companies with strong growth prospects will remain
attractive and this could help the board eliminate distractions that
are impossible to forecast, such as geopolitical risk, commodity
prices, and interest rate movements. The board will not time
the market and will remain focus on finding and investing in
companies that are trading at an attractive value and strong
growth prospects.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deepest
gratitude and appreciation to business partners, external
professionals, fellow Directors, employees and our shareholders.

Mung Kin Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE R th

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$18.8 million, compared to a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$91.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2019. The Group recorded a decrease in loss
of approximately HK$72.5 million attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020. Such decrease
was mainly attributable to a decrease in loss arising in change in
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$72.0 million.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS

Set out below are the investment objectives, policies and
restrictions of the Group:

Our investments will normally be made in listed and unlisted
companies;

i.  The Group had made investments with a short to long term
perspective with the objective of making capital gain as
well as income from dividend or interests. Over the years,
the Group invested in listed and unlisted securities, bonds,
direct investments, projects, properties and structured
products. Investments are also made in special or recovery
situations;

i. ~ There is no restriction on the proportion of the Company’s
assets which may be invested in any specific sector or
company save for the restriction that the Company will not
make an investment in any company which represents more
than 20% of the consolidated net assets of the Company at
the time such investment is made;

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED)

iv. ~ The Company will not either on its own or in conjunction
with any connected person take legal, or effective,
management control of underlying investments and that in
any event the investment company will not own or control
more than 30% (or such other percentage as may from time
to time be specified in the Takeovers Code as being the level
for triggering @ mandatory general offer) of the voting rights
in any one company or body; and

v.  The Directors do not intend to seek bank borrowings until
substantially all the Company’s funds have been invested
and that the Company borrows, the Directors do not intend
to borrow amounts representing in aggregate more than
the consolidated net assets of the Company at the time the
borrowing is made.

INVESTMENT REVIEW

As at 31 December 2020, the major investments of the Group
were (i) approximately HK$245,872,000 of a portfolio of listed
financial instruments; (i) approximately HK$24,180,000 of direct
investment in unlisted financial instruments; and (i) approximately
HK$29,578,000 of direct investment in unlisted investment funds.
The investment portfolio of the Group mainly comprises equity
and debt securities mainly in Hong Kong, Singapore, and the
United States of America.

Dividend from listed equity investments during the year ended
31 December 2020 was approximately HK$3,377,000. Interest
income from debt securities during the year ended 31 December
2020 was approximately HK$2,660,000.

The details of all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments
at 31 December 2020 are respectively set out in note 33 to
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE R th

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investments of the companies for the year ended

BHFAEERESEEEERE%Z
REURMEMARBE_S -5+
B=+—HLEERMIBERAREZ
BREERUATEIIRZMBEEAD
FEEBHELEZ (BR) WEWTF

31 December 2020 as follows

(Loss)/
gain arising
in change
in fair value
of financial
assets at
fair value
through profit
or loss
EBEER
UAFE
SIBR Z B4 75
BEATE
SEBEETZ
Name of investments (&548)
RERE &4
Notes HK$'000
B 5E FHET
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong ERETREES
Alibaba Group Holding Limited MEEBEEEEZERBERAF i (2,562)
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited
mEkERBEERRLAT" i (6,212)
Kaisa Group Holdings Limited EHEEERERERAE fii 583
China SCE Group Holdings Limited REEEZERBRAT iv (1,953)
China Aoyuan Group Limited REREEERRAOBERAT v (244)
Times China Holdings Limited RARPREZERBERAE vi (1,531)
Listed equity securities outside FERAUNZz ETERRAES
Hong Kong
So-Young International Inc. So-Young International Inc. vii (1,231)
Bilibili Inc. IRIRIRIE G DB RAE] 7 7,158
Unlisted equity securities outside ERAUNZIELTREES
Hong Kong
Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc.
— Preference shares — Bk ix (4,725)
Unlisted investment funds outside ERAUSZIELTRERES
Hong Kong
Click Ventures Segregated Portfolio Company Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company
— Fund Series 3T SP —Fund Series 3T SP X 3,422

Y EREE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investments of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2020 as follows (Continued)

Notes:

As disclosed in the website of Alibaba Group Holding Limited
(“Alibaba”) as at February 2021, Alibaba strived to expand its products
and services to become central to the everyday lives of Alibaba’s
customers.

As Alibaba continued to expand businesses from commerce to cloud
computing, digital media and entertainment, among other sectors,
Alibaba had evolved into an ecosystem that was unique, energetic
and innovative. Alibaba had set five-year goals to serve over 1 billion
annual active consumers and achieved over RMB10 trillion in annual
consumption through its China consumer business by the end of
fiscal year 2024 as Alibaba continued on the path of globalization.
Alibaba believed the five-year goals put it closer to achieving Alibaba’s
vision for 2036 to serve 2 billion global consumers, enabled 10 million
businesses to become profitable and created 100 million jobs.

As disclosed in the interim report 2020/21 of Brockman Mining Limited
(“Brockman Mining”) for the six months ended 31 December 2020,
Brockman Iron Pty Ltd (“Brockman Iron”) (a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Brockman Mining) and Polaris Metals Pty Ltd (“Polaris”) (a
wholly owned subsidiary of Mineral Resources Limited (“MRL”"))
progressed activities towards satisfaction of their Farm-In obligations in
relation to the Farm-In Joint Venture (FJV) Agreement over the Marillana
Iron Ore Project. A drilling and metallurgical testing campaign by Polaris
had been completed satisfactorily. Polaris also completed its technical
and cost report on the Marillana Iron Ore Project. The outcome of both
these undertakings had resulted in Polaris providing the Brockman
Mining with an Indicative Development Proposal. Upon the completion
of the Farm-In Obligations, the Joint Venture on Marillana shall be
established and development and construction for the project shall
commence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEES®

B 53 th

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investments of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2020 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

As disclosed in the announcement of annual results for the year ended
31 December 2020 of Kaisa Group Holdings Limited (“Kaisa”), looking
ahead, with the rollout of the COVID-19 vaccine, it was expected
that the COVID-19 pandemic would gradually come under control.
However, the degree of recovery and rebound in growth of the global
economy still hinged on the integrated effects of a series of factors
including the development trend of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
adjustment of global value chain, the foreign economic policy of the
U.S. government, the intensity and effect of different countries’ fiscal
and monetary policies as well as the stability of the global financial
market. The global economy was expected to undergo a weak
recovery, casting numerous uncertainties over China’s economic
development.

Nevertheless, the overall upward trend of the domestic economy would
not alter. 2021 was the first year of China’s “14th Five-Year Plan” and
also the 100th anniversary of the Communist Party of China. China
would embark on a new journey of fully building a modern socialist
country. According to “The CPC Central Committee’s Proposals for
Formulating the 14th Five-Year Plan for the National Economic and
Social Development and the Long-Range Objectives Through the Year
2035” (PHAREANRFIERRSCENT ERRE T HEARFRE
M-B=HF=2S=BIZREE)), the Central Government reiterated
the positioning of “houses were for living in, not for speculation” and
encouraged the promotion of both home rental and purchase and
adoption of city-specific policies, with a view to facilitating stable and
healthy development of the real estate market. Meanwhile, in order to
prevent excessive financialisation of the real estate market and take
preventive measures to resolve systemic financial risks, the Central
Government would continue to foster the establishment of a long-term
effective management mechanism for real estate finance and reinforce
supervision on real estate finance.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investments of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2020 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

(Continued)

Facing the new landscape of future real estate development,
Kaisa would implement a prudent land acquisition strategy on the
investment side and develop projects through cooperation, to realise
complementary strengths, reduce investment risks, lower land
expenditures, and ensure sufficient cash flow. At the same time, Kaisa
would accelerate the conversion of urban renewal projects to develop
high-quality projects with high profitability by Kaisa. On the sales side,
Kaisa would continue to accelerate collection of sales proceeds and
boost sales through online and offline collaborative sales activities.
On the operation side, through continuous improvements in product
research and development capacity and cost control ability, Kaisa
would accelerate project construction, display, delivery and provision
of services, which in turn would enhance product price premium and
increase profits. On the financing side, Kaisa would strive to actively
expand financing channels, improve maturity profile and reduce
financing costs.

As urbanisation continued to benefit China’s real estate industry and
with the ongoing advantages provided by the Central Government’s
favourable policies regarding the Greater Bay Area and the pilot
demonstration area of Shenzhen, Kaisa would ride the tide of time to
keep on actively exploring investment opportunities brought by the
development of large and medium-sized city clusters in China, grasp
the potential of regional economic and industrial development and
population policy, and achieve balance between the development of
scale and profit enhancement in order to steadily forge ahead.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEES®

B 53 th

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investments of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2020 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

As disclosed in interim report 2020 of China SCE Group Holdings
Limited (“China SCE”) China SCE believed that the worst of the
COVID-19 pandemic in China was over, and the Chinese economy
would slowly recover over the latter half of the year. But as there were
more and more uncertainties in the wider scheme of things both
domestically and abroad, there would still be burdens to economic
growth. China SCE believed that the government would continue its
proactive fiscal policies and relatively relaxed monetary policies into the
latter half of the year, in order to maintain market liquidity. A relatively
relaxed financial environment could benefit the real estate industry. The
central government would continue its stance that “No Speculation of
Residential Properties”, as well as its principle of tailoring real estate
policies to different cities. Therefore, China SCE anticipated that the real
estate market would remain stable for the latter half of the year.

As new types of urbanisation strategies were implemented, cities
and city clusters in the east, central, and western parts of the country
would continue to have a developmental advantage, as they were
attractive destinations for talents. China SCE would pay close attention
to information concerning land in the West Taiwan Strait Economic
Zone, Yangtze River Economic Zone, and Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area. However, China SCE would not get ahead of
ourselves in an attempt to be at the top of the pack. China SCE would
continue to implement the “One Body Two Wings” development plan,
helping China SCE to acquire land at a reasonable price, and providing
stable rental income and asset management income. In the latter half
of 2020, China SCE planned to launch a large number of new projects
in the West Taiwan Strait Economic Zone, Bohai Rim Economic Zone,
and Central Western Region, with the intent of improving residential
accommodations. With ample and balanced saleable resources, China
SCE was confident it could achieve the RMB93 billion contracted sales
goal for this year that China SCE set at the beginning of the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investments of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2020 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

\Y As disclosed in the announcement of annual result for the year ended
31 December 2020 of China Aoyuan Group Limited (‘China Aoyuan”),
Year 2021 was the opening year of the “14th five-year plan” and
“stability” would still be the first priority in terms of policies for property
market. Key policies of property market remained as “housing was
for living in, not for speculation; and implementation of city-specific
policies”.

Year 2021 was a milestone year for the China Aoyuan’s 25-year
development, also marked the opening year for Aoyuan’s striving
towards Global top 500. China Aoyuan had taken the initiative to
seek changes, driving flatten management, strengthened the direct
control of the headquarters to city companies, focused on higher tiers
cities, building 10-billion-yuan city companies, and had established
Yuekang Holdings (1 BE#Eh%) to fully coordinate the non-property
businesses, forming a two-way empowerment with the core property
business. Looking forward, China Aoyuan would continue to deepen
the strategies of “one core business with vertical development” and
cultivation in cities. China Aoyuan would also accelerate the conversion
of urban redevelopment projects, continue to improve management
efficiency, insist on shouldering its corporate social responsibility,
develop the comprehensive competitiveness of the enterprise and
achieve high-quality and sustainable development, thereby creating
more value for the shareholders, investors and the society.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEES®

B 53 th

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investments of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2020 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

Vi

As disclosed in the annual results announcement dated 23 March
2021, Times China Holdings Limited (“Times China”), looking forward
to 2021, as the pandemic gradually fades away around the globe,
the economy would be on track to recovery. China’s monetary policy
would be marginally tightened, whereas fiscal policy would emphasize
more on precision and effectiveness.

Under the policy tone of “stable land prices, housing prices and market
expectations”, the local governments would continue to carry out
targeted policy for respective cities to maintain the steady development
of the real estate industry. Backed by the prudent management system
of real estate financing, real estate financing and individual housing
loan would be more orderly. The market turnover in the industry
varies across regions, and the market demand in major metropolitan
areas would remain buoyant. With the ongoing investment in new
infrastructure and the construction of digital cities, the value of the
major metropolitan areas was further highlighted.

Times China would insist on the quality of growth, while maintaining
the balance of growth, benefits and risks. It would also ensure the
quality growth of residential development business, further enhance
the competitive advantages of urban redevelopment business and
collaborative development of business including commercial properties
and industrial parks.

Times China would adopt a diversified land acquisition strategy,
proactively engage in urban redevelopment and renewal, and ensure
land reserves were sufficient and with high quality. Times China would
continue to deepen our presence across the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macau Greater Bay Area, significantly increased the market share
in regions where Times China operated, gradually increasing the
investments in cities with high growth potential such as Yangtze River
Delta, the middle stream of the Yangtze River and Chengdu-Chongging
urban agglomeration.

Times China would adhere to the aggressive sales strategies,
strengthened our cash flow management and increased the capital
turnover rate.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2020

FRFEEERRTEBEERE%2Z
BEURENANRE_"S_SF+=
B=+—BHLEERMIERAKREZ
EREMRUATFEHIRZMBEEL
FEZFEEZ (BR) MEWT (&)
W - ()

vi o BB R TEZRERAR (EARE) 55

BB —EZA-+ZAZRELENEMIE
B RE-TC 5 2REWEESEE OEE
B o hE SIS E RIS MBS E S
BEEER-

FEIEE REE RER BERERT 17K
R EEREER R EETETRER &
FHETREBEEEFNET BEERMEMNEAR

ERREMBRF TEDNBRXEHDE T2
HHENTSERRRGER - BEWERNST
BRAMBAEHTHER TEXTENEE
E—H N

RAPER2HERENE R RIFE R Wm0
BB T - ERETHEXBEAEIENER.
E—DNMABEHEMEZNRFED BRER

By AU R B R R ER 2 7o (B A9 E s HUR BR > T8 1R 2
B HERE BREA T EEEN L
o RAFEREERHBEBRAER  KORA
FrE@EmiHnE ; BHIEME=/8  RIIPH
AT RS SERENEHNKRE -

R AP ER B FEHHE MR REE 186
e EY



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investments of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2020 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

Vil

viii

As disclosed in the unaudited fourth quarter and fiscal year 2020
financial results of So-Young International Inc. (“So-Young”), looking
at 2021, So-Young were continuously enhancing So-Young's
community-based content offerings to address different needs from
the enlarged pool of users, especially those who were core consumers
for medical aesthetic services. On the business front, So-Young would
continue to solidify So-Young’s advantages in plastic surgery, which
had been traditionally So-Young'’s strength while So-Young would also
capture the tremendous opportunities in non-surgical categories which
would continue its strong growth in the coming year. Lastly, So-Young
would continue to upgrade its products and services and improve
user experience. Looking forward into the future, So-Young would
fully leverage its competitive edges in content offering, technology
and user base, be user-centric, deeply explored the medical aesthetic
industrial chain, and became the most trusted platform in the broader
consumption healthcare service industry starting from aesthetics.

As disclosed in the prospectus of Bilibili Inc. (“Bilibili”) dated 18 March
2021, Bilibili was an iconic brand and a leading video community for
young generations in China. Over 86% of the Bilibili's monthly activated
users were aged 35 and below in 2020, which was the highest
among the major video-centric platforms in China, according to the
iResearch report. Video was an intuitive, vivid and informative way to
connect people with the world and had become a dominant medium
for communication, entertainment and information. Bilibili referred to
the trend of video integrating into the scenarios of everyday life as
“videolization”, which was creating a massive video-based industry in
China with approximately 1,180.2 million video users and over RMB1.8
trillion in revenue by 2025, according to the iResearch Report. As a go-
to video community for young generations in China, Bilibili believe it
was well positioned to capture the attractive opportunities created by
videolization.

Oddup Inc. was incorporated in the United States of America and
is principally engaged in operating a research platform that provides
analytical information on startups, their trends, and both current and
expected future valuations.

Mz -

viil
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE R th

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investments of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2020 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

X Fund Series 3T SP operates by Click Ventures Segregated Portfolio
Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Fund Series 3T SP
is principally invested in start-ups at the seed to series A stage in Hong
Kong and internationally.

The directors believe that the future performance of the Hong
Kong listed equities held by the Group is largely affected by
economic factors, investor sentiment, demand and supply
balance of an investee company’s shares and fundamentals of an
investee company, such as investee company’s news, business
fundamental and development, financial performance and
prospects. Accordingly, the directors closely monitor the above
factors, particularly the fundamentals of each investee company
in the Group’s equity portfolio, and proactively adjust the Group’s
equity portfolio mix in order to improve its performance.

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared a
global pandemic related to COVID-19. The impacts on the global
economy and commerce have already been significant and are
expected to continue in the future. The duration of the pandemic
and its impact on global financial markets, did not affect the
Group significantly; however, appropriate protocols are in place to
minimise the associated risks to employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had (i) cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$2,681,000 (as
at 31 December 2019: approximately HK$3,857,000);
(ii) other financial liability of approximately HK$9,973,000
(as at 31 December 2019: approximately HK$9,936,000);
and lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,874,000 (as at
31 December 2019: HK$6,355,000); (iii) net current assets of
approximately HK$268,231,000, as compared to approximately
HK$294,812,000 as at 31 December 2019. The gearing ratio
(borrowings/total equity) was 4.6% (as at 31 December 2019:
5.5%), borrowings included other financial liability and lease
liabilities. The current ratio of the Group was 7.44 compared to
10.93 as at 31 December 2019.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, a portfolio of listed equity and debt
securities held under margin account with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$148,537,000 (as at 31 December 2019: HK$
Nil) have been pledged to secure margin loan from securities
broker in accruals and other payables.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

The Group had no material capital commitment and contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the investments and the business transactions of the
Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Board
believes the foreign exchange exposure is minimal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB R th

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had 700,333,925 shares
of HK$0.01 each in issue (31 December 2019: 700,333,925
shares).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2020.

PROSPECTS

2020 has been a challenging year for all of us, and the board
would like to use this opportunity to wish you and your family
good health, happiness, success, and prosperity in 2021.
COVID-19 pandemic had forced us to adapt to changes that
we never thought of. Different nations have opted to take strict
measures to contain the outbreak of COVID-19, and this has
led to several industries taking a catastrophic hit, millions of jobs
disappeared.

With the pandemic disrupting the world, governments worldwide
deployed various relief packages to keep the disruption minimal,
and this has helped stabilize the economy. With the extension
of the relief packages, the rollout of the COVID-19 vaccine, and
low-interest rates, economic activity continues to improve. With
sectors that were heavily affected by lockdowns starting to revive,
many analysts believe this could fuel for another rise in equities.

Although the board remains positive on the outlook, the board
will remain conservative and selective in its investment. The board
believes companies with strong growth prospects will remain
attractive and this could help the board eliminate distractions that
are impossible to forecast, such as geopolitical risk, commodity
prices, and interest rate movements. The board will not time
the market and will remain focus on finding and investing in
companies that are trading at an attractive value and strong
growth prospects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group ensured that its employees are remunerated
according to the prevailing manpower market conditions
and individual performance, qualification, experience and the
remuneration policies are reviewed on a regular basis.

There are 13 employees, including 2 executive Directors and
3 independent non-executive Directors as at 31 December 2020.
Remuneration policies are reviewed in accordance with the
market situation and the performance of individual Director from
time to time. In addition to salaries, the Group provides employee
benefits such as medical insurance and mandatory provident
fund schemes. Moreover, discretionary bonus and share options
will be paid or granted to employees based on the Group’s and
individual performances.

The emoluments of the Directors were determined with reference
to their duties and responsibilities with the Company, the
Company’s performance, prevailing market conditions and the
market emoluments for directors of other listed companies and
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.

The Group’s total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
for the year ended 31 December 2020 under review amounted
to approximately HK$8,657,000 (31 December 2019:
approximately HK$8,087,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE Rk

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks

FEmMR

Business risk
EB R

Economic risk
7 B B

Liquidity risk
RBETER

Price risk
B

Exchange risk
SNERLRE
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Description

Bt

Business risk is the risk of rapid changes
in investment market could impact the
Group’s performance.

EBERARENHRREICMAIER
EXxEERFZ AR

ANNS

Economic risk is the risk of any downturn
in economic conditions could impact the
Group’s performance.

RERBACERRUSZERERR
R g -

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group
would not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due.

TRENE T B b8 2 A 5 B A PR A B HA
TRUET 2 B

Price risk is the risk that changes in equity
prices would affect the Group’s income
and the value of its holdings of equities.

BRERASRABREDRTELEE
AR REBEZRR-

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in
foreign exchange rates would affect
the Group’s income and the value of its
holdings of assets.
SNERBAEXSERZERERRAR
HFfnEEBEZRR-

FEARRAEEER

Mitigating actions

RRRIENE

¢ Continuously monitor the market dynamics and adopt a
conservative approach on investment

o FEEADTHEIERFRFRTZRES Ao

e Regularly review forward looking indicators to identify
economic conditions.
o THIERAIRMIER BELHERT

e Regularly monitor liquidity and statement of financial
position.
s THGERBEETRUBRIR

¢ Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover commitments.

o HRBERPETRAAE-

e Limit liquidity risk exposure by investing securities listed on
stock exchanges.
o BBBRENBFRZM LM ZRBSFRERSET RS

¢ Regularly monitor equity portfolio to address any portfolio
issues promptly.
o THRAIRAES KEMARARELASHE

e Spread price risk exposure by investing a number of
equities.
o FIERERBRENHEREMR

¢ Closely monitor statement of financial position and cashflow
exchange risk exposures and consider appropriate use of
financial instruments, such as forward exchange contracts,
foreign currency options and forward rate agreements, to hedge
the exchange risk.

s BYEZEVBERRREFEREIERBREEBREERD
RERIESH IERRKERANXGRASHF AN
SRR R o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

BEEw R th

FERARRIEEER &

Principal risks Description Mitigating actions
TEAR et ARRRIENE
People risk People risk is the risk of loss the services of * Provide competitive reward and benefit packages to attract and
ANERBE any Directors, senior management and retain the employees the Group needs.
other key personnel could have a material o RREEGRFE N ZREIREHN UK RItEAEBMEZE
adverse effect on the Group’s businesses. Be
ANERBRATNES - SREEEKEM
EYN=F: 3 CIF ¥9‘$?§l EFENLE o Ensure that the staff of the Group has the right working
AAHEEZ AR - environment to enable them to do the best job and maximise
their satisfaction at work.
s BRAEBEIHRBEAELFRE EHEIHIELET
BEEILERESEILIFREE-
Legal and Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a ¢ Monitor changes and developments in the regulatory
regulatory risk breach of laws and regulations could lead environment and ensure that sufficient resources being made
FEREERE to litigation, investigations or disputes, available to implement for any compulsory changes.

resulting in additional costs on civil and/ J

or criminal proceedings and reputational

damage being incurred.
ZEREERRABILEEREARAREE o

B AERAUG HRER /LA o

ERA KL ERBELEINAZER

B o

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to acting in an environmentally
responsible manner in our business operations and promoting
green measures towards environmental protection to our
employees. Our Group adheres to the principle of recycling,
reducing and reusing. Encouraging paper recycling culture,
doubled-sided printing and copying, and encouraging
energy-saving culture by switching off idle lightings and
electrical appliance are implemented by the Group. In order
to enhance environmental sustainability, the Group will review
its environmental practices from time to time and will consider
implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the
Group’s business operation.

ENEEREEDRER LRAAREERFHENRS)
PE o

Seek legal or other specialist advice as appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE R th

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no incidence of non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group as far as the Board is aware.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEE,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

As the Group is engaged in investment in listed and unlisted
financial instruments, there are no major customers and suppliers
during the year.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other
stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and long-term
goals. Although there are no major customers and suppliers
during the year the Company creates a framework for motivating
staff and a formal communication channel in order to maintain
healthy relationships with its employees and other stakeholders.

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

The Group’s net asset value is a key indicator of the
financial performance and it decreased to approximately
HK$278,243,000 as at 31 December 2020 (as at 31 December
2019: HK$297,031,000). During the year ended 31 December
2020, the Group suffered from a loss of approximately
HK$18,792,000, mainly because of the administrative expenses
and other operating expenses amounting to approximately
HK$19,177,000.

The net asset value per share was approximately HK$0.40, which
was calculated on the above net assets value and 700,333,925
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in issue as at 31 December
2020.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr. Mung”), aged 60, was appointed
as an executive Director on 9 March 2007. He is also a director
of various subsidiaries of the Company. He holds a Conferment
of Honorary Doctoral Degree from Sinte Gleska University of
California. In November 2007, he was awarded the 9th World
Outstanding Chinese Award by the World Chinese Business
Investment Foundation. He has extensive experience in areas of
business management, strategic planning and development.

Mr. Mung was appointed as an executive director of Global
Mastermind Holdings Limited (“GMHL”, stock code: 8063), a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, on 19 June
2014,

On 20 February 2019, Mr. Mung was re-appointed as an
executive director and co-chairman of the board of CWT
International Limited (“CWT”, stock code: 521), a company listed
on the Main Board of Stock Exchange and resigned all positions
with effect from 28 June 2019. He was appointed as an executive
director of the board of CWT on 16 February 2009 and re-
designated as the vice-chairman of CWT on 10 May 2010 and
24 October 2013 respectively. He has resigned as an executive
director and the co-chairman of CWT on 3 June 2015.

From 1 February 2018 to 3 August 2018, Mr. Mung was
appointed as the vice chairman of the board and an executive
director of Tysan Holdings Limited (formerly known as Hong Kong
International Construction Investment Management Group Co.,
Limited, stock code: 687), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not
hold any other position with the Company or other members of
the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFZEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)

Mr. Mung is the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, an executive
Director, the chief executive officer and a substantial shareholder
of the Company. As at the date of this report, China Lead
Investment Holdings Limited is interested in 509,784,025 shares
of the Company, representing approximately 72.79% of the
issued share capital of the Company. China Lead Investment
Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mung does not have any
relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (“Mr. Alan Mung”), formerly known as
Mung Chiu Yu, Alan, aged 34, was an executive Director during
the period from 12 November 2010 to 3 April 2013 and was re-
appointed as an executive Director on 31 March 2014 and the
chief executive officer of the Company on 9 February 2015. He is
also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. He holds
a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Economics from University
of California-Santa Barbara and a Master Degree in Finance
from Peking University. He has extensive working experience in
investment and asset management.

Mr. Alan Mung was appointed as an executive director of GMHL
on 24 March 2014.

Mr. Alan Mung was re-appointed as a non-executive director of
CWT on 5 September 2017 and has resigned with effect from 25
November 2019. He was an executive director of CWT during the
period from 24 October 2013 to 6 February 2015.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Alan Mung did not hold any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three years
and does not hold any other position with the Company or other
members of the Group.

Mr. Alan Mung is the son of Mr. Mung, an executive Director.
As at the date of this report, China Lead Investment Holdings
Limited is interested in 509,784,025 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 72.79% of the issued share capital of
the Company. China Lead Investment Holdings Limited is wholly
owned by Mr. Alan Mung.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Alan Mung does not have any
relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholder of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Wai Ching, aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He is
presently an owner of a printing company in Hong Kong. He has
over 18 years of experience in managing paper, packaging and
printing industries in both China and Hong Kong markets.

He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
GMHL on 23 June 2014.

Save as aforesaid, he did not hold any directorship in other listed
public companies in the last three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFZEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Lei Seng Fat (“Mr. Lei”), aged 70, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 April 2017. He has
27 years of management experience in Macau banking industry.
Prior to his retirement in 2014, he was a consultant in Cash
Management Department of Industrial and Commercial Bank
of China (Macau) Limited. He is currently the general manager
of a private company in Macau, which is engaged in trading of
furniture.

Mr. Lei was appointed as a sales director of Shane Global Holding
Inc. (Stock Code: 8482), a company listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange, on 15 August 2018.

Mr. Lei was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Man Sang International Limited (stock code: 938), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 12 July 2016
and resigned on 5 November 2018.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lei did not hold any directorships in
any other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (“Mr. Poon”), aged 56, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 October 2014.
He graduated from Lingnan College (now known as Lingnan
University) with an Honours Diploma in Accountancy and
obtained his Master of Science degree in E-Commerce from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He is currently
a proprietor of a certified public accountant practice. He had
worked for various international accounting firms, corporation and
consultant company in Hong Kong. He has working experience
which covered audit and assurance, internal controls, accounting
and information technology.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Poon did not hold any directorship
in other listed public companies in the last three years.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2020

FRESRE ((FHRE) 705 KT —E &
M+ NBEZERBUFAITEF - KER
FISRITEER2TENEEER - N _F—H
FIRIRAT BAFETEIRT CRFI) ROHBR
ABRREEEBZEB -KEME —RUEEKR
MEBHZ 2 RPIFAN R EMEBABLE -

ERENR_BE-—NENABTEHEZERAHA
T,_\%EPK?“HREBE’D\T (B 17 3% : 8482) Z 8H
B ZARRGERFRSZM EMmAT -
ERER_E—RFEFLtBE+HEZEAR
FRERERAE BMPATE: 938) ZBILIFA
TEE IR E—N\E+—BAHE#E"
ZNE R ER ETAT

BREXFIREESI FTRENBE=ZFLER
EREM EFARRBREEERAEERF -

BERKE (TEKE)) 2665 K _T—HEF
TRATHEZERBUFATES KINER
Bt RBEAEREAR) BEXTNEEF2R
BYR BREBEIABNSETFHEES

BREIZMU-RAEBGSMAOE MR RE
BERFESAMAEME RIS —KGFHAD

%?%FJ?%EE HEEHNEEBELSRERZTAD
T -EMBEBAR B TIEKE T REET
NEEEE Bt BRI o

‘5 =] =
e = u_\L

PR EXFIIREEES  BALENBE=ZFRILE
REMETARABDEEENESTHS



The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an investment
holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Group principally invests in listed and unlisted companies mainly
in Hong Kong, Singapore, the United States, and Canada.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position
and particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December
2020 are set out in sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Financial Summary”
on pages 4 to 5, pages 6 to 22 and page 184 respectively. Such
discussions constitute an integral part of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December, 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 70 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.
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EEEHRE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@ itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities as
they become due; or

(o) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2020 including
contributed surplus amounted to approximately HK$62,557,000
(as at 31 December 2019: HK$80,572,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group and the Company are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws and there is no restriction against such right under the
laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy

The term of office of each Director are subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-
laws”).

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Mung
Kin Keung and Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, will retire from office of
Director by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.

All other remaining Directors shall continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Excellent Mind Investments Limited, which is owned as to 60%
to Mr. Mung Kin Keung and 40% as to Mr. Mung Bun Man,
Alan, both of them are executive directors of the Company, was
a substantial shareholder of the Global Mastermind Holdings
Limited (“GMHL").

Hope Master Investments Limited (“Hope Master”) and Famous
Flamingo Limited (“Famous Flamingo”) were indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of GMHL.

On 12 October 2018, Hope Master and Famous Flamingo,
as landlords, entered into two tenancy agreements with the
Company, as tenant, for a term of three years with monthly rent
of HK$198,480 and HK$112,000 respectively, from 15 October
2018 to 14 October 2021. During the year ended 31 December
2020, the Company paid lease payments in an aggregate amount
of HK$3,726,000 to Hope Master Hope and Famous Flamingo
(31 December 2019: HK$3,726,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group paid
commission and other handling charge of approximately
HK$4,000 (31 December 2019: HK$6,000) to Global Mastermind
Securities Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the GMHL.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group paid
advisory fee of approximately of HK$150,000 (2019: nil) to Global
Mastermind Securities Limited.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group received
managerial and administrative service income with the amount
of approximately HK$35,000 (31 December 2019: HK$146,000)
from GMHL.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were deemed or taken to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required
to be and were recorded in the register required to be kept
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (CONTINUED)

ESREFBTHASKREABRREM
1R EE 2Z B % « MR 15 R 1R 35 A
2R E ()

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the MREAT RN KRB 2
Company
Percentage
of total
Number :
issued shares
of share
tions held i
e 31 December
Number of shares held Frfs 2020
sl E RSB poE-T
Personal Corporate Personal Total +=B=+—-H
Name of Director Capacity interests interests interests interests  {EBR1TRM Notes
E2 &f? {8 At B fA At EagE Sgzant MizE
(Note 4)
(Htat4)
Mung Kin Keung Beneficial owner 53,696,000 - - 53,696,000 7.67% 1
BHEEA
KRR Interest in controlled - 104,858,000 - 104,858,000 14.97% 2
corporation
REEFZE 2 R
Interest held jointly with another 351,230,025 - - 351,230,025 50.15% 3
HEMATHERE 2 #E
Notes: Wi
1 These shares were registered in the name of Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr. 1 ZERMIDUSFEREE (KAL) 2 aFEEMe
Mung”).

2 These shares were registered in the name of and were benefi

cially

owned by China Tian Di Xing Logistics Holdings Limited (“TDX”), a
company in which Mr. Mung, an executive Director and the chairman
of the Company, holds 99.99% equity interests and Ms. Sin Lai Ni,
spouse of Mr. Mung holds 0.01% equity interest. Therefore, Mr. Mung
is deemed to have an interest in the shares in which TDX is interested.

3 These shares were registered in the name of and beneficially owned
by China Lead Investment Holdings Limited (“China Lead”). Mr. Mung
is presumed to be a party acting in concert (as defined under the
Takeovers Code) with China Lead and thus, Mr. Mung is deemed to

have an interest in the shares in which China Lead is interested.

4 The percentage is calculated on the basis of 700,333,925 shares of the

Company in issue as at 31 December 2020.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The particulars of movement of the share options MRER WRITEZHBIRIEZEENFS
outstanding during the year are as follows: WmF
Balance as at Lapsed Balance as at
Date of grant of Expiry date of Exercise price 1 January during 31 December
Grantees share option share options per share 2020 the year 2020
g a3 3
" N _ RZEZEE RER +ZA=+—H
EEA RERRREIZ AR RE RS 2 i B A SiRiTEE —PA—B&R BRH iR
No. of No. of No. of
HK$ share options share options share options
BT HERERE HRERE MR E
Director
-
Mung Kin Keung 15.4.2011 14.04.2021 9.748 581,802 581,802 S
iE5R
Other grantees in aggregate 15.4.2011 14.04.2021 9.748 318,606 318,606 -
mesgAR®
900,408 900,408 -

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide participants with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and
to encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.

The eligible participants are (a) any full-time employees, Directors
(including any non-executive Directors or independent non-
executive Directors) and part-time employee with weekly working
hours of 15 hours or above of the Group; (b) any adviser or
consultant (in the areas of financial or corporate managerial)
to the Group; and (c) any adviser, consultant, agent, business
affiliate or any person or entity who provides research or other
support direct or indirectly to the Group, and any employee,
adviser or consultant to the investment management company
for the Group, who, at the sole determination of the Board, has
contributed to the Group. The assessment criteria of which
are (i) such person’s contribution to the development and
performance of the Group; (i) the quality of work performed by
such person for the Group directly or indirectly; (iii) the initiative
and commitment of such person in performing his or her duties;
and (iv) the length of service or contribution of such person to the
Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

On 15 April 2011, the Company granted 144,000,000 share
options to the grantees under the new scheme at the exercise
price of HK$0.27 each. The share options are exercisable for the
period from 15 April 2011 to 14 April 2021 (both dates inclusive).

The grant of 21,000,000 share options to Mr. Mung was
approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 15 June
2011.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no share option was
granted, exercised or cancelled.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the period was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company, and based on the
public records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and
records kept by the Company, the interest and short positions
of the persons or corporations (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company) in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
were directly or indirectly, interest in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
members of the Group were as follows:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS I ERENRALATIIRGKRIERARHNZ

-

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND EEB%E (8)
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

Long/short position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 REATSREE.IETZEERZ

each of the Company e
Approximate
Number of percentage of
ordinary the issued
shares of ordinary share
Capacity/ the Company capital of
Name of Shareholders  Nature of interests held Position the Company
HEATSET
FRrEAE EiEkiead
[t ] 813 #mttE LiER#A )=} ZEAESL
(Note 4)
(Kizt4)
China Lead Investment Beneficial Owner 351,230,025 Mote ) Long 50.15%
Holdings Limited EnEBA izl o
EELBIERARAT  Interest held jointly with 158,554,000 Moe2) Long 22.64%
another
HEMATHAREZ #H iz %
Ng Kwok Fai Interest of controlled 509,784,025 Moe2.3 Long 72.79%
SRS corporation
RREGEE 2 Lol o
Interest of controlled 351,230,025 Meed Short 50.15%
corporation
NZEGER 2 #m (=) %
Chiu Se Chung, Samuel Person having a security 351,230,025 Long 50.15%
LR interest
EEREREDZ AL %
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Long/short position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each of the Company (Continued)

Note:

1. These shares were registered in the name of and beneficially owned by
China Lead.

2. Mr. Mung beneficially owns 53,696,000 shares and TDX beneficially
owns 104,858,000 shares. TDX is a company in which Mr. Mung holds
99.99% equity interests and Ms. Sin Lai Ni, spouse of Mr. Mung holds
0.01% equity interest. Therefore, Mr. Mung is deemed to have an
interest in the shares in which TDX is interested. Mr. Mung is presumed
to be a party acting in concert (as defined under the Takeovers Code)
with China Lead and thus, China Lead is deemed to have an interest in
the shares in which Mr. Mung is interested.

3. China Lead is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Ng Kwok Fai
(“Mr. Ng”). Mr. Ng is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares
held by China Lead under Part XV of the SFO.

4. The percentage holding is calculated based on the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2020 comprising 700,333,925
shares.

OTHER INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors,
there is no other person who has an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares that is discloseable under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not
have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends are subject to the Board’s
discretion having regard to the following factors:

(@ the earnings, financial condition, capital requirements and
future plans of the Group;

(o)  the Shareholders’ interests;

(c) the economic outlook;

(d) the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders;

(e) the statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of
dividends by the Company; and

()  any other factors the Board may consider relevant.

The Board shall review the Company’s dividend policy from time
to time and may take any amendments that it deems necessary
or desirable.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
received confirmation of independence from all 3 independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy,
Mr. Fung Wai Ching and Mr. Lei Seng Fat in accordance with
Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent
non-executive Directors and concluded that all of them
are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence of
any of the independent non-executive Director has been impaired
up to the date of this report.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

According to Rule 8.08(1) of the Listing Rules, there should be at
least 25% of the issued shares being held by the public. However,
the Company is an investment company under Chapter 21 of
the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 21.04, the Company is not
required to comply with Rule 8.08(1) of the Listing Rules which
states that there should be at least 25% of the Shares as held in
the hands of the public. Pursuant to Rule 8.08 and Rule 13.32 of
the Listing Rules, there should be an open market in the shares
and that the Company shall maintain the minimum percentage of
the shares in public hands.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors, substantial
shareholders of the Company nor any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business which causes or may cause competes or may cause
any significant competition with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, no management and administrative
contracts regarding the entire or any major businesses of the
Company have been entered into or have existed.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance to all
staff. Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees are each
required to make mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme
and contributions to the MPF Scheme vested immediately.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable donations
(2019: Nil).
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Reference was made to the Company’s joint announcement
dated 19 March 2021 in relation to mandatory unconditional
cash offer by China Lead Investment Holdings Limited to acquire
all the issued shares of the Company (other than those Shares
already owned by and/or to be acquired by the Offeror and
the Offeror Concert Party(ies)). Unless the context requires,
capitalised terms used herein shall bear the same meanings
as defined. On 27 January 2021, The Purchaser completed
the acquisition of the Offeror which holds 351,230,025 shares
of the Company, approximately 50.15% equity interest in the
Company. On the same day after the completion, Mr. K.K. Mung
transferred 53,696,000 Shares and TDX transferred 104,858,000
Shares to the Offeror. The Offeror owned 509,784,025 Shares,
representing approximately 72.79% of the issued share capital
of the Company. Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code,
the Offeror is required to make mandatory unconditional cash
offer to acquire all of the Shares in the issued share capital of the
Company (other than those Shares already owned by and/or to
be acquired by the Offeror and the Offeror Concert Party(ies)). It is
expected that the Composite Document will be despatched on or
before 9 April 2021.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020 have been audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of HLB as auditors of the Company is to be
proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board

Mung Kin Keung
Director
Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEXERRS

The Company is dedicated to maintain a credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent,
open and accountable to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and adopted code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code on
corporate governance practices. The current practices will be
reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices in
corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the
code provisions of the CG Code during the year, except for the
following deviations:

Code Provision A.4.1

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code provides that the non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term and
subject to re-election. Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, the independent
non-executive Director, is not appointed for a specific term but
is subject to retirement from office by rotation and re-election at
least once every three years in accordance with the bye-laws of
the Company (the “Bye-laws”) up to 31 March 2020. As such,
the Board considers that such provision is sufficient to meet the
underlying objective of this code provision.

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, an independent non-executive Director,
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on 1 April
2020 to renew his directorship in the Company for an initial term
of one year from 1 April 2020 unless terminated by not less than
one month’s notice in writing served by either party. The term shall
be automatically renewed for consecutive term(s) of one year,
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-
laws.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(CONTINUED)

Code Provision D.1.4

Code provision D.1.4 of the CG Code provides that issuers
should have formal letters of appointment for directors setting
out the key terms and conditions of their appointment. The
Company did not have formal letters of appointment for Directors
(except Mr. Fung Wai Ching, Mr. Lei Seng Fat, and Mr. Mung
Kin Keung) up to 31 March 2020. However, the Directors shall
be subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-
laws. In any event, all Directors, including those without a letter
of appointment, must retire by rotation in the manner prescribed
under the Bye-laws, and on re-election of the retiring Directors,
shareholders of the Company are given information that is
reasonably necessary for them to make an informed decision
on the reappointment of the relevant Directors. In addition, the
Directors are required to refer to the guidelines set out in “A
Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies Registry
and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for Independent Non-
executive Directors” (if applicable) published by the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors in performing their duties and responsibilities
as Directors. Besides, the Directors are required to comply
with the requirements under statue and common law, the
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, an independent non-executive Director,
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on 1 April
2020 to renew his directorship in the Company for an initial term
of one year from 1 April 2020 unless terminated by not less than
one month’s notice in writing served by either party. The term shall
be automatically renewed for consecutive term(s) of one year,
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-
laws.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, an executive Director, entered into a
service contract with the Company on 1 April 2020 to renew his
directorship in the Company for an initial term of one year from
1 April 2020 (subject to rotation according to the Bye-laws) and
shall continue thereafter until terminated by not less than two
months’ notice in writing served by either party.
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EEXERRS

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange
as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon specific
enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2020. To ensure Directors’ dealings in the
securities of the Company (the “Securities”) are conducted in
accordance with the Model Code, a Director is required to notify
designated executive directors in writing and obtain a written
acknowledgement from the designated executive directors prior
to any dealings the Securities.

THE BOARD

The Board currently consists of two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors.

Composition

Executive Directors:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Chairmarn)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy

The number of independent non-executive Directors is 60% of
the Board membership. One independent non-executive Director
has the appropriate professional accounting experience and
expertise. The Board has a balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The names and biographical details of each Director are disclosed
on pages 23 to 26 of this Annual Report. Mr. Mung Kin Keung is
the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan. Saved as disclosed, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) among the Board members.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the
management

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed
and the Company'’s direction. Approval of the Board is required
for the strategy of the Group, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and
retirement of Directors, remuneration policy and other major
operational and financial matters. In addition, the Board has
also delegated various responsibilities to the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the investment committee
(“Investment Committee”) of the Company. Further details of
these committees are set out in this report.

During the year, the management had provided all members
of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance and
position to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties under the Listing Rules.

During scheduled meetings of the Board, the Board discusses
and formulates the overall strategies of the Group, monitors
financial performances and discusses the annual and interim
results, as well as discusses and decides on other significant
matters.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code. The major
roles and functions of the Board in respect of the corporate
governance are:

- to develop and review the Company’s policy and practices
on corporate governance;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

- to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the
management (Continued)

— to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;
and

—  toreview the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board had considered the following corporate governance
matters for the financial year 2020:

- review of the compliance with the CG Code; and

- review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management systems of the Company through the Audit
Committee.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’

liabilities insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the
management (Continued)

The Board held 7 scheduled Board meetings during the year
2020. Due notice and board papers were given to all Directors
prior to the meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. The Company Secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman in drawing up the
agenda of each Board meeting and each Director may request
inclusion of matters in the agenda. Generally, at least 14-day
notice of a regular Board meeting is given and the Company
aims at giving reasonable notice for all other Board meetings.
The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of
Board meetings and Board committee meetings. Minutes of
Board meetings and Board committees meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by any Directors/
committee members. Details of individual attendance of Directors
are set out below:

Attendance of individual Directors at board
meetings in 2020

Number of meetings 7

Executive Directors:

Mr. Mung Kin Keung 77
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan 77
Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 77
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 77
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 7/7

The Board has established procedures to enable Directors, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.
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EEXERRS

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Directors’ training and professional development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. Directors are
continually updated on the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements to ensure compliance
and upkeep of good corporate governance practice. Directors
are also encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company had received record of trainings from each Director
relating to development and refreshment of their knowledge and
skills. The participation by individual Directors in the continuous
professional development is recorded in the table below:

Executive Directors: WITES .
Mr. Mung Kin Keung REBAIE
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan XmNXiE
Independent Non-executive Directors: JHIIIEHITES :
Mr. Fung Wai Ching IEHEIESE
Mr. Lei Sang Fat ERERE
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy BERLE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer are separate
and are not held by the same individual exercised by different
individuals to ensure their independence, accountability and
responsibility. Mr. Mung Kin Keung is the chairman of the
Company. Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is the chief executive officer
of the Company. The chairman provides leadership for the Board
and the direction of the Group. The chief executive officer has
overall chief executive responsibility for the Group’s business
development.

During the year, the chairman of the Company met with the

independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the
executive Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will review
the profiles of the candidates and make recommmendations to
the Board on the appointment, nomination and retirement of
Directors.

According to the Bye-laws, any Directors so appointed by the
Board shall hold office, in the case of filling a casual vacancy, only
until the next following general meeting of the Company or, in the
case of an addition to their number, until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company who shall then be eligible for
re-election at such general meeting. Every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Non-executive Directors

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) have each signed a letter of appointment
with the Company and have appointed for an initial term of one
year commencing from the date of the letter of appointment
unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter
of appointment. The term shall be automatically renewed for
consecutive term(s) of one year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its
expertise, there are three Board committees namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee formed under the Board, with each performing
different functions. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. In addition, following the expiration of the
investment management agreement entered into between the
investment manager and the Company on 30 June 2014. On
4 August 2014, an Investment Committee has been established
to assist the Board in overseeing the Company’s investment
strategy and policies, and the establishment and working of
internal control at the operational levels and ensure compliance
with investment restrictions.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established with written terms
of reference and currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired by an
independent non-executive Director with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The current members of the Audit Committee are
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (Chairman), Mr. Lei Seng Fat and
Mr. Fung Wai Ching.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee include:

- to serve as a focal point for communication between other
directors and the auditors in respect of the duties relating to
financial and other reporting, internal controls, audits, and
such other matters as the Board may determine from time
to time;

= to review the appointment of auditors on an annual basis
including the review of the audit scope and approval of the
audit fees;

- to review the annual and interim financial statements prior to
their approval by the Board, and recommend application of
accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements;

S to review the auditor’s management letters (if any) and
management’s responses; and

S to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing
an independent review and supervision of financial
reporting, by satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of
the internal controls and risk management of the Group and
the adequacy of the audits.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the major work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year included, among other things, the
following:

- to review the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and for the six months ended
30 June 2020;

= to review the effectiveness of the internal controls system
and risk management; and

- to review and discuss with the external auditor over the
financial reporting of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Audit
Committee meetings in 2020

Number of meetings 3

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (Committee Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Fung Wai Ching 3/3
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 3/3
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EEXERRS

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three independent non-
executive Directors and the Chairman, which meets at least once
ayear.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include:

= formulation of the remuneration policy, reviewing and
recommending to the Board the annual remuneration

policy;

S ensuring no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration; and

- to consider of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Remuneration
Committee meeting in 2020

Number of meetings 3

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 3/3

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching (Committee Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 3/3
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 3/3
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three independent non-
executive Directors and the Chairman, which meets at least once
a year.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include:

to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

recommend to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection;

to review the policy on Board diversity (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) and any measurable objectives for implementing
such Board Diversity Policy and to review the progress on
achieving the objectives; and

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an Independent Non-executive Director at the general
meeting, it should set out whenever elect an individual as
an independent non-executive Director (i) the process used
for identifying the individual and why the Board believes the
individual and the reasons why it considers the individual
to be independent; (i) if the proposed independent non-
executive Director will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the Board believes the
individual would still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board; (i) the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and (iv) how the individual
contributes to diversity of the Board in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting.
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EXERAWS

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

In considering the nomination of a new Director, the Nomination
Committee will take into account the qualification, ability, working
experience, leadership and professional ethics of the candidates.
In determining the independence of Directors, the Board follows
the requirements set out in the Listing Rules. According to
the Bye-laws, the Board has the power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board subject to the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Nomination
Committee meeting in 2020

Number of meetings 1

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 1/1
Mr. Lei Seng Fat (Committee Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 1/1
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Investment Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising two executive Directors
and the financial controller of the Company.

The major roles and functions of the Investment Committee
include:

- to review, monitor, manage and control the existing
investments;

- to seek, identify, explore, evaluate and appraise potential
investments and performing those necessary due diligence
exercises; and

= to report to the Board, illustrating its work undertaken.

The Investment Committee held 12 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Investment
Committee meeting in 2020

Number of meetings 12

Executive Directors

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Committee Chairman) 12/12
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan 12/12
Financial Controller of the Company

Mr. Wong Siu Hang 12/12
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EEXERRS

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Company is to ensure that all
employees, including all Directors, are sufficiently compensated
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company and
remuneration offered is appropriate for their duties and in line
with market practice. No Director, or any of his associates, and
executive is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The executive Directors are closely involved in and are directly
responsible for all activities of the Group. The Board considers
that the senior management comprises the executive Directors.

Particulars regarding senior management and other Directors’
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to
be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management for the
year fell within the following bands:

i B B SR

AABZFHMBRAERERES (BE2E
BEF) 2B NREBEARERAZERERHIRE
pEE MATIRM Z# BN RE RS TEC I
HEHHEA - -BEFHHEEAMBEALRT
BAB RS2SR EERT Z#E -

EFREREEEHMH

WTEERB2EKEREEAEEBZRA
EB - EFREIRSREEBOENTES

BiIE LT RN ETIREAASRE R
BREMEEHFMRLLESHMNES ZF
BENGEHMBREMEEI -

= AR B TR FE A
FREE DR ERE 2T ZH B TR

Nil - HK$500,000

HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000

ZF 500,000 7T

500,001 7T % 1,000,000 7T
1,000,001 7t £ 1,500,000 7T
1,500,001 7T E2,000,0007% 7T
2,000,001 775 £2,500,0007 7T
2,500,001 775 £ 3,000,0007% 7T
3,000,001 775 £3,500,0007% 7T

HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7875 % 4,000,000 71
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,00178 7T 24,500,000 7T
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY EETZ bR

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
objectives and principle regarding board diversity for the benefits
of achieving the Company’s strategic objectives with a view of
having a balanced diversity of both skills and experience and
of perspective. Board appointments will be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against measurable objectives,
taking into account the Company’s business and needs.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (CONTINUED)

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience
and skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and the
contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the Board.

The Directors will consider and review the diversity of the Board
and to set up, if appropriate, measureable objectives according to
the Company’s own business model and specific needs.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on
corporate governance and the implementation of the CG Code.
The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer. All Directors also have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. The selection,
appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary is subject
to the Board approval.

The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, total fees paid/payable to HLB, the Company’s
auditors amounted to approximately HK$420,000 and
HK$70,000 respectively for audit service, and other non-audit
services provided by the auditors of the Company during the year.
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EEXERRS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing their
effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk management
of the Group and endeavors to identify risks, control impact of
the identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated
mitigating measures.

During the year, the Company has adopted and reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
procedures which include the policies, procedures, monitoring
and communication activities and standard of behaviour
established for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders
of the Company. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Company aim to help achieving the Group’s
business objectives, safeguarding assets and maintaining proper
accounting records for provision of reliable financial information.
However, the design of the systems is to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement in the
financial statements or loss of assets and to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risks of failure when business objectives are being
sought.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarized as follows:

Risk Identification

° Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment

° Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

° Considers the impact and consequence on the business
and the likelihood of their occurrence.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Response

° Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

° Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness during the year.

The Group has engaged Absolute Value Business & Asset
Valuation Limited as its risk management and internal control
review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the
risk management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 December 2020. Such review is conducted annually and the
cycles to be reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of
review was previously determined and approved by the Board.
The Adviser has reported findings and areas for improvement
to the Audit Committee and management of the Company. The
Board and Audit Committee are of the view that there are no
material internal control deficiencies noted. All recommendations
from the Adviser will be properly followed up by the Group to
ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable period of
time.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Monitoring and Reporting (Continued)

The Company has a policy to assess the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact the price of the
shares or their trading volume and to decide whether the relevant
information is considered as inside information that needs to be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules
13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information
Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

Based on its assessment which covers all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions, the Board believes that for the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems are effective and adequate. The
Board is satisfied that there are adequate resources of staff with
appropriate qualifications and experience in its accounting and
financial reporting team and that sufficient training and budget
have been provided.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication
policy and shall review it on a periodic basis to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
Shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include annual general meeting, annual report, various
notices, announcements and circulars. The Company has also
maintained a corporate website which enables Shareholders,
investors and the public to receive timely and updated information
on the Company.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for such substantial issues, including the re-election of retiring
Directors.

The Company’s notices to Shareholders for the annual general
meeting (“2020 AGM”) of the Company held on 16 June 2020
were sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before
the meeting.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(CONTINUED)

An executive Director, chairman/members of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee and the representative of external auditor were
available at the 2020 AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. The chairman of the 2020 AGM had explained
the procedures for conducting a poll during the meeting. All
resolutions proposed at the 2020 AGM were voted separately by
way of poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were properly
counted and recorded.

Attendance of individual Directors at the Annual
General Meeting in 2020

EEEARS
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Attendance
HEE

Executive Directors: BITESE:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung KERTE 4
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan RmX ik 4
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIIEITESE :
Mr. Fung Wai Ching KBRS A 4
Mr. Lei Seng Fat ERELE v
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy BEMLE v
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS R ERAEF

Procedures for requisitioning an special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
may, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
signed and deposited in accordance with the bye-law 58 of the
Bye-laws, require a general meeting to be called by the Directors
for the transaction of any business specified in the requisition.
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EEXERRS

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for requisitioning an special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings (Continued)

A special general meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition.

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written request, duly signed by
the Shareholder concerned, setting out the proposals at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board and the Company Secretary. The request
will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars in
Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will pass the request to the
Board. Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as Director is posted on the Company’s website at
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/mastermindcap/.

Shareholders’ enquiries

General meetings of the Company provide a direct forum
of communication between Shareholders and the Board.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries in writing to the
Board through the Company Secretary at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for requisitioning an special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings (Continued)

The Company Secretary shall forward the Shareholders’” enquiries
to the Board, where appropriate to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries Limited,
the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, if they have any
enquiries about their shareholdings, share registration and related
matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARING THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
The statement of the auditors about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 62 to 69.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
| S

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF GLOBAL MASTERMIND CAPITAL
LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 70 to 1883, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audlitors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statermnents section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fuffilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

FEE R

B ZHEMR S

RISt HIE

FRBFFERRBERMANERAE oY
HABATER M BERRRA/EEZNSE
H-zEFRRARRERMBEFABEGEMBERE
RHEERRETRE RMAFTEHELEEFE
RHBBHER-

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BFAIBE NI RIEMRE FIA

Fair value measurement on financial assets

FRMBREEZ A FEHE

E’efer to notes 19 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

DR E IR AN AF 19531 °

At 31 December 2020, the Group holds listed equity and
debt securities, unlisted equity and debt securities and
unlisted investment funds with the carrying amounts of
approximately HK$245,872,000, HK$24,180,000 and
HK$29,578,000 respectively.
RZEZEF+"A=+—H> BEBFBELWRAE
REHBZESF FLTRAREBERESFRIFLTERERES
BREE D B4 A245,872,0008 75 ~ 24,180,000 7t &
29,578,000 7t ©

Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of the Group’s portfolio of listed
equity and debt securities, unlisted equity and
debt securities and unlisted investment funds
included, but were not limited to:

EER BEEBZ EHRAREHFES JEL
MRAREBESRIFLTREEESZATF
Bt 2RI B EZFEEERRER !

o enquiring the management and assessing
the methodologies used in fair value
measurement and the appropriateness
of the key assumptions and parameters
based on our knowledge of the investment
and using our auditor’s valuation expert’s
evaluation;
BERESHKREBEBAZAAINERE
BB 2 (HEER 251 1E ﬁ%fiﬁ
AR E AT ESFEZFRARL A B#
BER2EZIEEN ;
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Key audit matter

FEE RN

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BFIME AR IERMRE S BIA

Fair value measurement on financial assets (Continued)

BB EEZ 2 FENE (B

The valuation of the Group’s unlisted equity and debt
securities is based on a combination of market data and
different valuation models which may require to consider
numbers of input. The inputs to the valuation techniques
used to measured fair value are classified into 3 levels fair
value hierarchy in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
BEEEFLITRAREHBESF ZHEDER T SEE KA
EREERE T AMBZARMGERELBEE - A5t
EATEZGHERTNBABBED D EAESBMBREE
BISB13SRA FEFENZE =M TERER-

The valuation of the unlisted equity and debt securities is
complex and requires the application of significant judgment
by the management.

FLEHRAREBES ZEENIFEEE BEREIERE
F& FA B8 K HI i o
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Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of the Group’s portfolio of listed
equity and debt securities, unlisted equity and
debt securities and unlisted investment funds
included, but were not limited to: (Continued)
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(&)

o checking, on sample basis, the accuracy
and relevance of the input data used by
comparing key underlying financial data
inputs to external sources and investee
companies’ audited financial statements
and management information as
applicable;
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Key audit matter

@B RN

B ZHEMR S

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BRI E AR IEMRE S BIA

Fair value measurement on financial assets (Continued)

BB EEZ 2 FENE (B

The fair values of unlisted equity and debt securities were
valued by independent qualified professional valuers.
FEMRAREHEESNATFETBEBEIGEREXEE
BMEIT(h(E

The fair values of unlisted investment funds were based on
net asset value as reported by the managers of the funds.
FEMREEESZ AFTENERESRKRERE2EEFE
B

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of the Group’s portfolio of listed
equity and debt securities, unlisted equity and
debt securities and unlisted investment funds
included, but were not limited to: (Continued)

EEp BEEBZ LHRAREHES JEL
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N EFEMKNZ BstEF BIEERRR -

(&)

o evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent qualified
professional valuers; and
MBI S EREELEMZER 5
NEREEY ; &

o checking the arithmetical accuracy on the
valuation model.

BEEERNZBEMERE-

We considered management’s fair value
measurement on financial assets were
supportable by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Yu Chi Fat.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat
Practicing Certificate Number: P0O5467

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GREaRmkHEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

2020 2019
—ECEH “E—hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FET
Revenue & 6 6,037 6,028
Other income Hatzs 7 659 146
Loss arising in change in fair value B3B8 BR LA F(ESER
of financial assets at fair value ZHBEEEATE
through profit or loss BENEL ZEIE (5,632) (77,633)
Administrative expenses and TR REMKESRES
other operating expenses (19,177) (19,034)
Finance costs G=Yn %N 8 (679) (802)
Loss before income tax FRERSRAIES1E g (18,792) (91,295)
Income tax expense FriSinfsZ 12 - =
Loss for the year attributable to 2 FHEE AEEEEES
owners of the Company 18 (18,792) (91,295)
Other comprehensive income  Hfth 2 EYx
Items that may be reclassified B A5t EF P EEIE 7
subsequently to profit or loss:  BRZIEH :
Exchange differences arising on FRREBIINEBEE
translation of foreign operations bE R E=RE
during the year - 1
Reclassification of cumulative —RIB N B A B B EE A
translation reserve upon MEFEMDERER
deregistration of a foreign B
subsidiary 4 =
Other comprehensive income  E£REMEHEULEE
for the year 4 1
Total comprehensive loss FRATRREAEREEESR
for the year attributable to mE5a4REE
owners of the Company (18,788) (91,294)
Loss per share ShRESE 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EHARRAEE Bl (2.68) (13.04)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidation financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BEERBINRER

At 31 December 2020 R 2 -Z&+_-_HF=+—H
2020 2019
—ECEF —E—-hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mzt F#ExT THIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HBERAR
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz BB KRB 15 1,494 3,046
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 2,733 6,198
Intangible assets mILEE 17 5,785 5,785
10,012 15,029
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments TE{I =R IE 517 511
Other receivables HhFE U BR R 2,027 2,576
Deposits paid BftiEE 4,960 1,062
Amount due from a related FE U — R R A B 8
company 18 51 84
Financial assets at fair value FHiaEm IR AT EYIER
through profit or loss ZHHEE 19 299,630 316,419
Cash and cash equivalents BHeRIBSEEIER 20 2,681 3,857
309,866 324,509
Current liabilities RHBAE
Accruals and other payables FESTER A R E A FE T AR =X 21 28,788 26,216
Other financial liability HitWHas
— non-convertible bond — RO EIRES 22 9,973 =
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 2,874 3,481
41,635 29,697
Net current assets REBEERE 268,231 204,812
Total assets less current MEERTHAR
liabilities 278,243 309,841
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRER

At 31 December 2020 R ZE-ZFEE+"H=+—H

2020 2019
—ECEF “E—hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 F#ExT FETT
Non-current liabilities JERBaE
Other financial liability Hisas
— non-convertible bond — o ERES 22 - 9,936
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 - 2,874
- 12,810
Net assets HERE 278,243 297,031
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves TATHEEARGEELRR
attributable to owners e
of the Company
Share capital [N 24 7,003 7,003
Reserves B 271,240 290,028
Total equity Es4agE 278,243 297,031
Net asset value per share (HK$) SIREEFRE (F1) 25 0.40 0.42

The consolidated financial statements were approved and EEVBERRENR _E-_—F=B=1+H%
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2021 BEEgMAEREETIZE KA TIATRE
and are signed on its behalf by: =

Mung Kin Keung Mung Bun Man, Alan
KEE Hoa
Director Director
EF EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these  BEMI Z M AZEHEEMBERR ZMARI D
consolidation financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEmEEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

. VAGE 3PN 4
Capital
Share Share  Contributed  Share option Translation  contribution  Accumulated Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses equity
(2 R fn (e BRERE  BRERE ERGHE AR Ziii HEnas
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT TR TER TR TR TART TR
(Note g (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note g)
(Hista) () (ite) (Hfitd)
At1 January 2019 RIE—hE—F—H 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 ) 45330 459.215) 388,325
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - = (91,205) (91,205)
Other comprehensive income: Hit2mE
Exchange differences arising on BREENEBEEY
translation of foreign operations EREHR - - - - 1 - - 1
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ £R2EHBEE - - - - 1 - (91,295) (91,204)
At 31 December 2019 and at RZB-—NE
1 January 2020 +ZB=1+-Ak
$-%%—F-H 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 (@] 45,330 (650,510) 297,031
Loss for the year EREE - - - - = = (18,792) (18,792)
Other comprehensive income: Hit2mE
Reclassification of cumulative —RIESNE B AT RSN
translation reserve upon KENNBRHERHE
deregistration of a foreign subsidiary - - - - 4 - - 4
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ ER2EHBEE - - - - 4 - (18,792) (18,789)
Lapse of share options BREEN - - - (2,665) - - 2,665 -
At 31 December 2020 R-ZB-8E
+ZB=+-H 7,003 146,099 646,448 - - 45,330 (566,637) 278,243
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEDEER

For the

Notes:

year ended 31 December 2020 E—E _ET&H&+ _H=+—HIFE

The contributed surplus of the Group brought forward represents the
amount transferred from the share premium due to the share premium
reduction effective on 23 November 2015 and various capital reduction
subsequently. Under the Bermuda Companies Act, the contributed
surplus is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot
make a distribution out of the contributed surplus if: (i) it is, or would
after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due;
or (i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than its
liabilities.

Share option reserve represents the fair value of services estimated
to be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share option
over the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair
value of the share option at grant date. The amount for each period
is determined by spreading the fair value of the share option over the
relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised as staff costs and
related expenses with a corresponding increase in the share option
reserve.

Translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to the
translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e.
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”")) which are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve.
Such exchange differences accumulated in the translation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr.
Mung”), a director and substantial shareholder of the Company, had
compensated the Group from suffering loss of deposits paid for
investments in prior years, and fulfilled his responsibility as a personal
guarantee and settled all outstanding balance of deposits paid for
investment.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
:%TAEEEIIILE‘?E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

2020 2019
—EEHF —Z—hHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAT
Cash flows from operating SIS RE
activities
Loss before income tax BREF1SHAIES1E (18,792) (91,295)
Adjjustments for: ER T3 EEELHHE -
Dividend income fZ E WA (3,377) (3,821)
Interest income ] B WA (2,660) (2,207)
Depreciation of property, plant ME-BERZEZITE
and equipment 1,602 1,715
Depreciation of right-of-use FREBSEZINE
assets 3,465 3,465
Gain on deregistration — BB A Bl AEE
of a subsidiary Z W (69) -
Loss arising in change in fair FEiaBm U ATES]
value of financial assets at fair RZBEERTE
value through profit or loss SEEL ZEBE 5,632 77,633
Finance costs R AR AN 679 802
Operating cash flows before KREtEEETEH EE
movements in working capital RERE (13,520) (13,708)
Increase in prepayments FE{T R IEIE N (6) 87)
Decrease in other receivables H i FE W BRFRR 998 4,825
(Increase)/decrease in deposits BidzE g
paid (3,898) 7
Decrease in amount due FEW—REIREE A B IB
from a related company P 33 246
Increase in financial assets at far BB E@IRMUA FESER
value through profit or loss Z B EIE N (14,704) (32,262)
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and  F& 5+ BR 70 s ELfth FE (T BR 3R
other payables ) 8N (100) 7,265
Increase in amount due to FE—RERAE A B IB
a related company A - (920)
Net cash used in operating REEBEAZ
activities RE3E (31,197) (34,634)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Qt =
.ﬁr'czigifsﬂuugii
For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

2020 2019
b ol 3:- 3 “E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Cash flows from investing BREXBZRERE
activities
Purchase of property, BBAYE BB KRB
plant and equipment (50) (330)
Dividend received B E 3,377 3,821
Interest received B UWF & 2,660 2,207
Net cash generated from REEBEE RT3
investing activities 5,987 5,698
Cash flows from financing MEEFEZHRERE
activities
Proceed from/(repayment of) E’*%#E TR éf%ﬂ
margin loan from securities PRISFIE, (BE
broker 28,157 (1,635)
Repayment of lease liabilities BERAEaR (3,481) (3,308)
Interest paid BEAHE (642) (765)
Net cash generated from/(used in) FEEFHEE R 2
financing activities N&E B8 24,034 (5,708)
Net decrease in cash and cash RERFAEZSHER
equivalents W BEE (1,176) (34,644)
Cash and cash equivalents at PRI REHIZRER
the beginning of the reporting IRE&%{EIEH
period 3,857 38,500
Effect of foreign exchange rate  JMEEEE R £ Eh 5.
changes = 1
Cash and cash equivalents MRIREHRZIAER
at the end of the reporting REEEIER
period 2,681 3,857

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
Company’s registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. Its principal place of
business is situated at Unit 3107, 31/F., Shun Tak Centre,
West Tower, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong.

At 31 December 2020, the Company’s parent is China
Lead Investment Holdings Limited (“China Lead”), a limited
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Ng Kwok Fai. On 27 January
2021, Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, a director of the Company,
completed the acquisition of China Lead and became the
ultimately controlling party of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is also the functional currency of the Company
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$’000) except otherwise indicated.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are investing in listed
and unlisted equity and debt securities and investment
funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and Reform
HKFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZE —

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendment to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to

HKFRS 3
Amendments to

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments!

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions*

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?®

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)"

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?

F_EBFE+_A=+—HLEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2028.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2020

2.

ERERAMRBHRSER ((FER
BIEEN) 218574 (@)

B K EMZ T E BT
ﬁ%%ﬂ&é%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬂ

1

KRB =ZF—A—HAHZERBEZEE
HAR AR
KRB _F—-A—HAHZERBEZEE
HARER -

REEBRAz BB FERBEN -

RIBE_ZEA—HAHZERBEZEE
HARER -
RIBE-_-—F-A—HAZERBZEE
HARER -

AAREFZRPEAFRAMIEBIME
BREZUREEST AR RRRKFELEG
HREUHBRRENERATE-

FEMBRRGRBERETED

b =]

sHECER

1 REMBHRRGNESE

A Hﬁ‘“%ﬁ%‘%@*ﬁ%é%%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ
REEMZEBMHFREER (K
@wﬂ?%ﬁéﬁa‘?‘z%ﬁ%ﬁ'ﬁ‘%’ﬁ
FRENCERENETERR
FHZRE RIERENKERE
Reltih IREMBRERETEES
BMERZMBRAREST LHR
A) TEHRA) FAIREZBRIKE
MU &7 n EHE R Z R B2 3R E P 18
2 B AREE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FANMBERRENEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 31 FEMBRRENEE (B

financial statements (Continued)

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBEHRRENEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 1 ZEMBERRENEE (B)
financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair LN LA R ;M S » & FEET
value measurements are categorised into Level 1, ERARTEQATFEZHARE S
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs IHREEERBASBHAFE
to the fair value measurements are observable EE‘E"L FEZEEREDAF—ZH=
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value o FBUWT -

measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in s FRBABIEAEREONE
active markets for identical assets or liabilities EHNESHREEENGRBTE
that the entity can access at the measurement BT 2 wE CRAR) ;
date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted o  FIRMABIRIERE MR
prices included within Level 1, that are BiEZHREN BEEXEET
observable for the asset or liability, either directly EEREEEREI AR
or indirectly; and B &

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the e F-RWABBEDNBEENER
asset or liability. TR ERER 7 & A\ BUI ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. EMBGHRRERNEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (4B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 XEFHBE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFHHEK (&

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Interests in subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. EMBGHRRERNEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (4B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 XEFHEEK (&

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case, the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.

On the deregistration/disposal of a foreign operation,
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost or
fair value less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2020

Mg ()

EREEEEELEZERERANE
FHABIA B m ST o

MEBRGEUBREMS  A&H
BIEBZEEREBBREREH
R BREXREDSKTERZZR
51 (BPET) - MARRXIEE R
HIEFHERRE > SR EXAIE
RENRIBRSN ) EULBER T R 5
ERZEXRETHME -FIELEZE
RER WA REMEEIREF
BRTRERFERETZEaPR
5t

PRESHEE M/ L& BN E B R LR
BRAABDEE ANZEFMN R
DRRFMEEREZREN DR

Efme

VERY TN

ME-BERRBRIEGMHRR
RPEAAEAIRFEZY) R
HBRRASHTERHEB R RERIE
GnA) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFHHEK (&

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease term
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are

acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w6 P35 4R R P o

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

HEMBRRGREBEERTIES
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFHHE (&

(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FANBERRENEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEFFHE B

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued))

Interest and dividend income which are derived
from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FANFERRENEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

3.2 FEFFHE @)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “revenue” line item.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”") model on financial assets
(including other receivables, deposits paid, amount
due from a related company and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
(“12m”) ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the end of reporting
period. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting period as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

For all instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 FEFFHEE &

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting period with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. EMBGHRRERNEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (4B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFFHEE &

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFFHEE &

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in

profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 FEFFHEE &

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. EMBGHRRERNEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (4B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including accruals and other
payables, lease liabilities and other financial liability —
non-convertible bond) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFFHEE &

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
the asset may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (the “CGU”) to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of
CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
CGU or group of CGUs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w5 A 35 4R R P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

HEMBRRGREBEERTIES
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFHHE (&

(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwiill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFFHEE &

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Revenue and other income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investments goes ex-
dividend.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset.

Managerial and administrative service income is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with interests in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stER ()

3.2 FEEFHEE &

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) 118 (48)
Deferred tax (Continued) FELFRIE (48)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amounts of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. EMBGHRRERNEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (4B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to after
deducting any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit obligations

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 FEFFHEE &

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued) ESEF (&)
Retirement benefit obligations (Continued) BUKEFIEF (&

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution scheme, the assets
of which are held in separate trustee-administered
funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
with the employers’ contributions subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group’s
contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred
are vested in accordance with the scheme’s vesting
scales. Where employees leave the scheme prior to
the full vesting of the employer’s contributions, the
amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the
contributions payable by the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w5 A 35 4R R P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

HEMBRRGREBEERIES
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFFHE @)

(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 FEFFHEE &

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Leases HE
Definition of a lease HEZTZHE

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. EMBGHRRERNEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (4B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 FEFFHE @)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of storage room that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

HEMBRRGREBEERIES
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFFHE @)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FANBERRENEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEFHEER &)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stER ()

3.2 FEFHHEK &)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued) THE (4B)

FEEFREABEA (B)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued) HESE @)

amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBEHRRENEERTED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 XEGHBR (&

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

HE &)

FEREERAEA (B

BEZER (#)

AERBEBHERERAEEEED
HERE HHEEENEME
ETEsRE - BENENGNE
2IEE R ER 0 A — 1B 30 % 18 H 1th
HERIFHEEME D AEH
SIRBEEEHENE D ERIBIE
B IFFRE MR AR 0 BV ABIB LB AR
REREBHNEGNTHNHEDEES
BESAEMEBD

EERZE

FREBERANREELEHBERNIRE

the period in which they are incurred. mEEd o
Government grants B RF A

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

HEMBRRGREBEERIES
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFFHE @)

(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it
is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. BMEMBHRRGREBERTED
stEUR ()

3.2 FEFFHEE &

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount
of obligation cannot be measured reliably. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a
provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Related party transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

U)

(i

)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

U)

(i

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Related party transactions (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vil)

(vii)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between the Group and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Assessment of economic useful lives of
property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their
economic useful lives. The assessment of estimated useful
lives is a matter of judgment based on the experience of the
Group, taking into account factors such as technological
progress, changes in market demand, expected usage and
physical wear and tear. Useful lives are periodically reviewed
for continued appropriateness. Due to long lives of assets,
changes to the estimates used can result in variations in
their carrying amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed
for impairment at the end of each reporting period or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of the asset is the higher
of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
An estimation of the value in use of the asset involves
estimating the future cash flows expected to arise from its
continuing use and applying the appropriate discount rate
that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risk specific to the asset.

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments under level 3 fair value hierarchy

Certain of the Group’s financial instruments under
level 3 fair value hierarchy amounting to approximately
HK$53,758,000 (2019: HK$64,607,000) at 31 December
2020 are measured at fair values with fair values being
determined based on unobserved inputs using valuation
techniques. Judgment and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the
relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to
these factors could affect the reported fair values of these
instruments. See note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements for further disclosures.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining
provision for taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises tax liabilities based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such
determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”) has
been identified as the Company’s executive directors. The
Group’s principal activity is engaged in investment in listed
and unlisted equity and debt securities and investment
funds. The CODM regard it as a single business segment

and no segment information is presented.

At the end of the reporting period, non-current assets
included property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets of approximately HK$1,494,000
(2019: HK$3,046,000), HK$2,733,000 (2019:
HK$6,198,000) and HK$5,785,000 (2019: HK$5,785,000)
which are located in Hong Kong. The Company’s place of
domicile is in Hong Kong which is determined based on the

location of central management.

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from Hong Kong

during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

sHEEH

REEERRE (REEERRENE
ERIAERTDNTEFT cEBZE
BEBARE LT RIFLTRERBR
BERREERZ REKERRERH
REBE—XHNE WEEIDEEN -

RREAR FERBEEBREUNREE
ZHME-BERRE TRAEEEULE
B EX1,494,0008 7T (ZE—HEF:
3,046,000/ 7T) ~ 2,733,000 T (Z &
— N 16,198,000 T) K&5,785,000
BT (ZEB—HEF 5,785,000 7T) ° 24
REIZFEMERRPREEZMUEM
E °

NE_S-_SER_S-—NE+_H
S+—BLEE AEEZHETBE
aEH-

6. REVENUE 1§
2020 2019
—ECEHF —E—-hE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET
Dividend income R EUA 3,377 3,821
Interest income AIISUYON 2,660 2,207
6,037 6,028
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hfttfz
2020 2019
- ol 3:- 3 —_E—-hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Gain on deregistration of — M B A Bl FEE s 2
a subsidiary (Note a) W (Bata) 69 -
Managerial and BERITHARB U
administrative service income 35 146
Government grant (Note b) BT fEBh (B atb) 555 -
659 146
Notes: Bzt
(@) During the year ended 31 December 2020, upon the @ REEZZ-ZTFE+A=+—HIHF

deregistration of an inactive foreign subsidiary, the
corresponding translation reserve was released and a gain on
deregistration of a subsidiary of approximately HK$69,000 was
recognised.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group (b)
recognised government grants of approximately HK$555,000
in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies which relates to
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
government.

B> R—REEEEINNB AT M
B EFEE R B ER GRS — BB AR
B 5 R IR 3 4969,00078 7T

REE-S-FF+-A=+—BLE
& > 4 % B $ECOVID- 1978 B W i B BB AT
81 49555,000%8 75 » HLEREBBAATR
R EIER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AREMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December ZOgQ 1

2+ A=+—AILEE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MIEMZ
2020 2019
—ECEE = E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FA7T TFAxT
Interest on: FE
Other financial liability HM AR
— non-convertible bond (note 22) — RAEES
(Bta#22) 237 237
Lease liabilities HESR 245 418
Other interest expenses to SRR 2 H A S5
financial institutions 52 197 147
679 802
9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. FREFIGMAIESIE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging: FREAEMRAIBEEENRR TIISIE !
2020 2019
—ECEE ZE—NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FA7x FET
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEENEN &
— Audit services —BIZRT 420 400
— Non-audit services —IEBEBIZARTS 70 110
490 510
Depreciation of property, ME-BERZEZITE
plant and equipment 1,602 1,715
Depreciation of right-of-use assets @ﬁﬁ HEEINE 3,465 3,465
Loss arising in change in fair value of FEiaBm IR AT ESER
financial assets at FVTPL ZHBEEATEED
EEZ R 5,632 77,633
Net foreign exchange loss FERE1E2 %R 109 289
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ BSHATRE B B 26 23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. PRFRIFMAIESIE (&)
(CONTINUED)
An analysis of the loss arising in change in fair value of FRBERERUATEIRZVBEER
financial assets at FVTPL is as follows: FTEESFELE BB OWNUWT
2020 2019
—EEF —E-NE
HK$’°000 HK$'000
F#Ex FET
Realised gain on disposal of HEBZBERKRULATEE
financial assets at FVTPL TRz M EEZEE
B R
Proceeds from disposal of HEFBEB@mRUATE
financial assets at FVTPL FERZ A EEZFTS
=g (278,050) (105,264)
Less: Carrying amounts of B BEBEm IR A TE
financial assets at FVTPL R MR EEZIRE
(=1 276,158 100,911
(1,892) (4,353)
Unrealised loss on financial assets BB m IR AT ESER
at FVTPL ZHBEEZREERE
18 7,524 81,986
5,632 77,633
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG MBRRMEE |

For the year ended 31 December 20;2:0:

—EELCAS+—RLERE

10. EERFIRX
BEEFES (BEESHEM OT

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

The employee benefit expense, including directors’
remuneration is as follows:

2020 2019

—ECEH —ENEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FET

Salaries and other allowance e R HAZERL 8,509 7,946
Retirement benefit scheme BIRER FHEIH=

contributions 148 141

8,657 8,087

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EFRFTETHAS ZEHM

REMUNERATION
EFRIFETHABSZEMN

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a)
emoluments

RIFEBEA L TR REBRBERAG

KERERBZEERFEITHA

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing

Rules and the disclosure requirements of the Hong BZMEWT :
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Retirement
benefits
Discretionary scheme
Fee bonus  contributions Total
BtkiaT) )
fig METEA sElHS b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THR TEL TAT TER

2020 —32%%

Executive directors: BWTES:

Mr. Mung ek 840 - 8 848

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan EmNEE 3,960 330 18 4,308

Independent non-executive BUFRTES:

directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching BIESLE 60 - - 60

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi Percy BERTE 60 - - 60

Mr. Lei Seng Fat EERE 60 - - 60
4,980 330 26 5,336
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

. EFREBTHASZHM (&)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) ERRETETBASZEM
emoluments (Continued) (48)
Retirement
benefits
Discretionary scheme
Fee bonus  contributions Total
BB
e RBTta EMER Hast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER FET TER
2019 “B-nE
Executive directors: YIES!
Mr. Mung b 195 - 7 202
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan EmXEkE 3,960 330 18 4,308
Independent non-executive directors; B FEHITES |
Mr. Fung Wai Ching BEERE 60 - - 60
Mr. Poon Wai Hai Percy AEETE 60 - - 60
Mr. Lei Seng Fat FRERE 60 - - 60
4,335 330 25 4,690

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is also the chief executive
officer of the Company and his emoluments disclosed
above include those for service rendered by him as the
chief executive officer.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and
2019, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

EmXEETRBE AT ZITHABE
REXFRBEZHMEQEERE
TERBEHERB ZME -

HE-S_SER-F-AFTC
A=+—BLEE BREERE
BITRA R AR MRS E B R
EEMEZ R

BE_ZEFERZFE—NEFE+Z
B=+—BHLEEE xEBLEM
BEETMEAMALEEZ KBS
WEHEEIHEE
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions, arrangements or contracts

in which directors have material interests

On 29 February 2016, Excellent Mind Investments
Limited, which is owned as to 60% to Mr. Mung
and 40% as to Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, executive
directors of the Company, became a shareholder of
the Global Mastermind Holdings Limited (“GMHL”).
Mr. Mung and Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, are also the
directors of GMHL.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
received managerial and administrative service
income of approximately HK$35,000 (2019:
HK$146,000) from GMHL.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
paid commission and other handling charge of
approximately HK$4,000 (2019: HK$6,000) to Global
Mastermind Securities Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of GMHL.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
paid advisory fee of approximately HK$150,000
(2019: nil) to Global Mastermind Securities Limited.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2020
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kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

. EFREBTHASZHM (&)

(b)

Y BB

EEHAEAEGDZRS &
HEsk &4

IRE RSN ESET A H
Excellent Mind Investments Limited
(AEARBHRTEERLEE R
EmXTEDRHEBGO0%R40%
# %) B AGlobal Mastermind
Holdings Limited Bk A BEE A
RAE (MRIKKBI) 2BEFRE
FREMXEETRRIKKBZE
Eo

BE_E_THE+"_A=+—HIE
FEE - AERRIIBRABINTZ
SR R AT AR & I 5 4935,00078
7T (ZZE—H%5F 1 146,000 7T) ©

BE_FT_TF+-_A=+—HI
FE AEARBRABZ2EMH
BARARIKABHESBRABZM
AekEMFEEN4000ET (T
T— N4 16,0008 7T) ©

BE_FT_TF+-_A=+—HI
FE AEARNRKABESER
RE) AT EE A EXI150,00058 7T (=
F-NEF 8|



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

. EFREBTHASZHM (&)

b) EFHAEAERZRS &

(b) Transactions, arrangements or contracts

in which directors have material interests
(Continued)

On 12 October 2018, Hope Master Investments
Limited (“Hope Master”) and Famous Flamingo
Limited (“Famous Flamingo”), indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of GMHL, entered into rental
agreements with the Company. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Company repaid
lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,225,000 (2019:
HK$2,114,000) and paid interest on lease liabilities
of approximately HK$157,000 (2019: HK$267,000)
in relation to the rental agreement entered into
with Hope Master and repaid lease liabilities of
approximately HK$1,256,000 (2019: HK$1,193,000)
and paid interest on lease liabilities of approximately
HK$88,000 (2019: HK$151,000) in relation to the
rental agreement entered into with Famous Flamingo.

Saved as disclosed above, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts in which the Company
or any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

BN &4 ()

RZZE—N\NF+B+H>Hope
Master Investments Limited (M Hope
Master ) RIRIK K BREZE 2 E M
[& /A BlFamous Flamingo Limited
(T Famous Flamingo |) 72 5
U ERE -REBEE_Z SR
+_B=+—HLEFE,ARTR
BiHope Masters] XL Z TR E &% E
BEHE&ELN2,2250008T(ZF
— 5 2,114,000 ) RkZHHEE
BEF B4157,0008T(ZE—H
F: 267,000 5t) & 7t B Famous
Flamingos] I 2 HH E & B EH
EA&E41,256,00085(—E—H
F:1,193,0008 ) k= HHEE
EF B 488,000 T(ZF — N &F:
151,0003&7T) ©

PR EXIEEIN  RERIEARE
o] B i B R A B 80 H AR I 8
NCIPEHFSDSPE VNS = 3K -3
BRENAETEREEAR@ 2 MK
ZZHHEM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

;A 35 4R R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 &k

e+ =AS+—HLEE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EBERFTETHAS ZHE 48

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) BBRSHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the FR-AEERLLERSHFMALTE
highest in the Group for the year included two (2019: EmaCE—NEFE —RES K
one) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the EZMESHEBEREXZS PR
analysis presented above. The emoluments of the Bo-BRT=(CE-—NF OB E
remaining three (2019: four) highest paid individuals SEHMALTZFHMOT

are as follows:

2020 2019
=R =N SR
HK$’000 HK$ 000
F#ET FHET
Salaries and other allowance & R EH AR 1,733 1,959
Retirement benefit scheme RRfEF St B
contributions 51 65
1,784 2,024
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the KEBRrMEFEIEOD ARG RS
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join FMA L2 ER—RBALZGER
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss MAXEEZRBITHEREEZ
of office for both years. BEE-
The aggregated emoluments of each of the remaining BRrFE=% CE-—NF OB &
three (2019: four) highest paid individuals fell within the =M AT 2 EREE TR
following bands: Al
Number of employees
BEA™
2020 2019
—ECEE “E—-hnF
Nil to HK$500,000 ZZE500,0008 7T 2 3
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 E
1,000,000/ 75 1 1
3 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

The subsidiary located in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25%
for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
as the Group incurred estimated tax losses or the taxable
profits was wholly absorbed by estimated tax losses
brought forward from prior years.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made
as the Group had no assessable profit arising in or derived
from PRC for both years.

12. FRISMEAX

RZE—NE=BZ+—H &FBILZE
EBBT(CE—LERH (B5]) (B
7R R (TEBI) > ZARFISIA TR
BHRMBHE - FHAER_Z—NE=R
“+N\BEBLEHLRRBATE - RE
MIEREMmEE  cERERBERNS
2,000,00078 7t izt F 1 $28.25 % AR >
H83E2,000,0007% 7T AV i #1) B ZE#216.5%
B - AN ERMARNERSEE
i M R A R 12165 % RY Bl E IR R ©

EER% BHEASHR M ARG PTY KRB
TRHGEMBRERMSLAER-F
BRI LW EF E &5t ERIRE
216.5%5t & ©

fIp R ARSEAE (TRE) ZHEA
50 781 14 18 4 $R.25.% 4 4 b [ £ 32
BR -

MR AEBEEE G NEGRNERR
A EERBETEEGEE 2G5 NIEE
BPETIRE B FE B BN SR ER-

e 1 7 8 B 7 1147 A2 O 9 2 4E SR
R R R R R E
TSR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 12.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the loss before income tax per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FRiSIRAX ()

meBEnkEMEER@RERNMER
I S2 K PRFTISIRATES IR ) B ARIN T ¢

2020 2019
St TR s
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FA7x FET
Loss before income tax FRET1SIR ARS8 (18,792) (91,295)
Tax calculated at the rates applicable to  {RIEIERAIRTS B2 & E
the tax jurisdictions concerned BZzREAE NG (3,101) (15,064)
Expenses not deductible for tax e
purposes 97 879
Income not taxable for tax purposes BIAERR A (3,582) (1,976)
Estimated tax losses not recognised KIER 2 E5TRIERE 6,586 16,161

Income tax expense Frigfifsz

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$369,185,000
(2019: HK$329,270,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams and unrecognised tax losses could be carried
forward indefinitely.
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R EHIR > A EEE £369,185,00078
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR e MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. EiREIE
The computations of basic and diluted loss per share KRB EEANEBLESRERN RS EEIE
attributable to owners of the Company are based on the ZHELERTIEIRESY !

following data:

2020 2019
—ECEE ZE—NEF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
TR FAET
— 000771
Loss E5i8
Loss for the purpose of basic and BUSEESRELAKREE
diluted loss per share BB EE
(Loss for the year attributable to (EABHEE AE
owners of the Company) FEEIR) (18,792) (91,295)
2020 2019
—ECEFE “E-hE
’000 000
TFhg TB&
— 000771
Number of shares ;4408 4=
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ UGt EERE AR #HE
shares for the purpose of basic and BEZ LB MNEFE
diluted loss per share £ 700,334 700,334
The basic and diluted loss per share are the same for both MEEEBREAR RS EEEIERER -
years.
As the Company’s outstanding share options where HRARBIERTEZERE (HER)
applicable had an anti-dilutive effect to the basic loss per HEEZETEZF+ZA=+—HKZ
share calculation for the year ended 31 December 2020 E-NWF+ZBA=1+—HLEFESRKRE
and 31 December 2019, the exercise of the above potential RBEBEZOTEEERBEREE WtE
dilutive shares is not assumed in the calculation of diluted CEZMEFEZz SR EHEIBRRR
loss per share for both years. MBEE SR EETH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the
year ended 31 December 2020, nor has any dividend been
proposed by the board of directors subsequent to the end
of the reporting period (2019: nil).

14.

1225}

RBEE_E_EHF+_H=+—HLHF
B BEFgUTEN BERIBZAE
RS BERREARRTERZ N
EEIRE CE—NE: F)-

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ME - -BERRE
Leasehold Motor Office
improvement vehicles equipment Total
fHE%E RE HAERE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FAET TAT TAT
Cost ﬁEzIs
At 1 January 2019 A _E—NF—H—H 3,320 4,118 324 7,762
Additions hE 58 - 272 330
At 31 December 2019 and AZE-hE+ZB=1+—H
at 1 January 2020 &:gigﬁ—ﬁ —H 3,378 4,118 596 8,092
Additions NE - - 50 50
At 31 December 2020 A\ZEIEF+ZR=1—H 3,378 4,118 646 8,142
Accumulated depreciation Riting
At 1 January 2019 RZZ—AF—F—H 92 3,062 177 3,331
Charge for the year FRZH 1,110 524 81 1,715
At 31 December 2019 and ATE —jl-’DF-I' E-I‘— H
at 1 January 2020 “EZF-HF—H 1,202 3,686 258 5,046
Charge for the year F Pqi‘zﬁ 1,118 377 107 1,602
At 31 December 2020 RIE-ZFE+"F=1+—H 2,320 3,963 365 6,648
Carrying amounts fREE
At 31 December 2020 AZE”SF+°"BA=1+—-H 1,058 155 281 1,494
At 31 December 2019 A_E-N&E+_-A=1+—H 2,176 532 338 3,046
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR e MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Cost
At 1 January 2019, at 31 December 2019,
at 1 January 2020 and at 31 December

16. FHESE

D%
RZ2—hFE—HA—H-ZB—NE
+TRA=+—H-ZB"BF

Office
/NS
HK$’000
TF#T

2020 —B—BRIZIZEZZEHF

+—-A=+—H 9,663
Accumulated depreciation REHRE
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—-NF—HB—H =
Charge for the year FAZH 3,465
At 31 December 2019 and at 1 January 2020 R -Z—HE+_HBA=+—HK

—E2EF—HF—H 3,465
Charge for the year FARZH 3,465
At 31 December 2020 RZTE2EZZEF+"F=+—H 6,930
Carrying amount IRE{E
At 31 December 2020 H-E-¥F+-A=+—H 2,733
At 31 December 2019 RIE—NE+ZA=+—H 6,198
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 ﬁﬁ:gﬁgﬁ-}—:ﬁ =+—HIEFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

16. FAHESEE (88)

2020 2019

ol . 2:3 e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FA7x FET

Total cash outflow for leases HEZIRSRHS48%8

3,752 3,749

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,874,000 (2019:
HK$6,355,000) are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of approximately HK$2,733,000 (2019:
HK$6,198,000) at 31 December 2020. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

For both years, the Group leases offices for its operations
with lease contracts under fixed term of 3 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B B E

Club memberships ]

HK$’000
FHERT
Cost 593
At 1 January 2019, at 31 December 2019, S ZTE—-NF—HA—H-
at 1 January 2020 and RZE—NEF+ZB=+—H"
at 31 December 2020 N TETEF—HF—HK
N ZEEF+ZH=1+—H 5,785
Accumulated impairment losses REtRERE
At 1 January 2019, at 31 December 2019, N_ZE—hF—H—B-
at 1 January 2020 and A —E-NEFE+"BA=+—H"
at 31 December 2020 RN_E_ETF—FB—HK
RZEZEF+"A=+—H -
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2019 and 2020 NRIE-hERZZE_EHF
+=B=+—H 5,785
The Group holds life-time memberships with non- rEBFEREERE GEEFIURE

MEREREHERE - EFAR gRARN
BAXNERRAZBERTERER

refundable membership fee and is freely transferrable. In
the opinion of the directors, the club memberships are

capable of being renewed indefinitely at insignificant cost
and therefore is perpetual in duration.

The Group performed impairment test for the intangible
assets by comparing its recoverable amounts to the
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period in
accordance with HKAS 36. The recoverable amounts of the
intangible assets are determined based on fair value less
cost of disposal. The fair value was determined based on
Level 2 hierarchy using market approach with reference to
quoted market prices. Accordingly, the directors consider
that no impairment loss was recognised for both years.

WEHKAEH -

RIEE B EREI6T  AEEES
BIERIR SRz W 2EEREE
HEFTEEETREANS -BFVEEZ
AIREI TR FENREERERE
R TPEDBDERE_BREATH
W2EERHEEE -HIL EFR
A 45 o 5% 1B F S T SRR B E5 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG MBRRMEE |

For the year ended 31 December 20;2:0:

—EELCAS+—RLERE

18. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED 18. FEU—FEIRIEATIFRIE
COMPANY
Maximum
amount

outstanding
during the year

FRES 2020 2019
HARZIEEE —ECEE S
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET F#ET FHBT
Global Mastermind IREkKIBEEH
Securities Limited BRAT 15,465 51 84
The amount due from a related company is unsecured, R —HREABMRSERET 2L
interest-free and repayable on demand. BB REIE-
19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. FEBBmRU QA TFETIIRZ
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS HE
2020 2019
—ECEE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
F#ET FHBT
Listed equity and debt securities: TR AREREES -
— Equity and debt securities in —NEBZRAR
Hong Kong, at fair value B%ESs B ATE 198,226 216,184
— Equity and debt securities outside —REBLINZ BA R
Hong Kong, at fair value BFEs HAYE 47,646 35,738
245,872 251,922
Unlisted equity and debt securities JE LA R EHES 24,180 41,338
Unlisted investment funds JELEHmRERES 29,578 23,159
299,630 316,419
At the end of the reporting period, financial assets at FVTPL RBESHAR BHRBRARULTFETER
are stated at fair value. ZHBEEURTERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiZE —E -"ZFF+_F=+—HIEFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

The fair value of the listed equity and debt securities
(excluded suspended trading securities) are determined
based on the quoted market closing prices available on the
relevant stock exchanges at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2019, the fair value of suspended trading
securities listed in Hong Kong amounting to approximately
HK$110,000 was reference to the valuation carried by
International Valuation Limited (“IVL”), a firm of independent
qualified professional valuers. The fair value of suspended
trading securities listed in Hong Kong was valued by using
approach with reference to price-to-book multiples (the
“P/B multiples”) of comparable companies, adjusted with
marketability discount at 31 December 2019.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair value of
unlisted equity securities amounting to approximately
HK$20,687,000 was referenced to the valuation carried
out by IVL. The fair value of the unlisted equity securities
was valued by using market approach with share value
allocation model or asset-based approach as appropriate.
In determining the fair value of unlisted equity securities
valued by using market approach with share value allocation
model, equity value of investee companies was first
determined by market approach and share value allocation
model was then used to allocate equity value to different
classes of shares. In determining the fair value of unlisted
equity securities valued by using asset-based approach,
fair value of individual business assets less liabilities
was considered to arrive the fair value of the investee
companies.

At 31 December 2020, fair value of unlisted debt securities
amounting to approximately HK$3,493,000 which
represent convertible loans issued by an unlisted private
company (“Issuer”) was referenced to the valuation carried
out by IVL. The fair value of the unlisted debt securities was
valued by using discounted cashflow method.

19. BEiBEE
BE (4

i AR IA 2T (EF AR Z 135

IIIE

REREHR EHRERBEHES (T
BYFEERS) 2 AFEHRRE/RE
SRRz WHEEE -

N _E-hhE+B=1+—H ' RE
BELITHNEEFEEERSHNAFENS
110,0008B 0 LR B EBIUESEK
EXHEMTEEFEERAD (TERE
) ETHEEEE N _Z—NEF
+-B=+—H REBLTNEEE
BEESHNAFENLEBMBEE 257
BEERABZREMEREGHE (TMERZXE
E) LE MR HIERE I E(ER

o

R_E_EER_ETE—NE+_A
=+ —H FLTIRABENAFEL
#520,687,000/& 75 2 F H R T LET
MG EER - FLTRABSHNAFE
DERBRNDEESREEMBENEE
HEELt (WEA) HE NEEHBRD
BESEEEMG AGEIE LHRAE
SNATFTER HREADZEGRER
BEEAMBLIECRERGERRME
BENohkBEREEREBESEERREA
B -REECRBEEEREGHEIEL
TRAEBHENATER > ZEREEE
XEEREBENATFEETHEE BE
WIRE AR AFE-

KRB _TEF+_A=+—H LD
B855I A F(EX 73,493,000 7T
BIFLETRARET (META) 2EEER
SFEETHEEMETHNIRRER
FETEHR SN FEDRAKRIR
EMEEMEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =S = T&E+ =B =+—HIt &

19.

20.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

The unlisted investment funds are not quoted in an active
market and transactions in such investments do not occur
on a regular basis. The Company used the net asset value
as reported by the managers of the funds attributable to
the investments held by the Company to determine its fair
value.

Further details of fair value measurement of financial assets
at FVTPL are set out in note 31.5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

At 31 December 2020, a portfolio of equity and debt
securities with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$148,537,000 have been pledged to secure margin loan
from securities broker in accruals and other payables (note
21).

At 31 December 2019, none of the equity and debt
securities were pledged.

The fair value of the Group’s listed equity and debt securities
listed in Hong Kong and outside Hong Kong at the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements were
approximately HK$273,721,000.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

19. EBREHRUATEIRZ 115

"E (@)

FETREESTENZRT S LR
B BUEEREENZSTRENIZ
ERBEAERBRFANREBENE
TR ERESNEEFEUEERAYF
He

ERZBEGRURTEIRZMBE
EZ@$T§D+EZE fuéﬁri?ﬁﬁ\?fﬁA
5k RN EE31.50

N ZEEF+ZR=+—HB FEEE
##9148,537,00058 70 2 IR A& K (B 7558
HEEETER LESHSHLLZH
EER (Gt AR H T BRE)
(MFzE21) ©

A _E-NEFE+ZB=+—H 8K
PR A R EFEE

R EZEFRSVHERTAE ~EH
EBAREAUNLETRAKRESESZ
NE(ELA273,721,000 7T ©

20. RERIMEFEHFE

2020 2019
—E-EE  CFN%E
HK$’000 HK$’'000
Fi#5 T8

Cash at banks and on hand

RTRENTFEREE

2,681 3,857
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21.

(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2020, the Group has cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$46,000 (2019: HK$46,000)
denominated in United States Dollar (‘USD”).

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates and placed
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group performed impairment assessment on bank

20. RER|MEFEEE (@)

R TETEF+ "R+ —H AEH
Z%E (F%EJ) D‘I”fgziﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ'fj—n%ﬁ?

#7%46,0008 7T (ZZF— L4 © 46,0007
7T) °
IRITAERLUIHN XA B RERLESR

HHE:@DE%EEETD%Z%E'TT °

BE_TZ_TERFE-AEFE+ZA
=t+—HLEFE> $%léﬁ§ﬁ MEERE

balances and concluded that the probability of defaults of TREFHEESEGEHR XZHFRT
the counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no HNEBAOTEEMAEE  HILBENE
allowance for credit losses is provided. BEEEETE A
ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. FEGTERTR By H fth FE (T IR TR
2020 2019
—ECEE —E—NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#Ex FET
Accruals FESTERRR 331 437
Margin loan from securities broker BERLEZIHEER
(Note) (Ht5t) 28,157 =
Other payables HAER AR 300 25,779
28,788 26,216
Note: Kzt

At 31 December 2020, the margin loan from securities broker was
secured by a portfolio of equity and debt securities which classified as
financial assets at FVTPL held under the margin account, with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$148,537,000. The Group’s margin loan
has no determined maturity date and is subject to interest specified
from time to time by securities broker. The margin loan is interest
bearing at floating rates. At 31 December 2020, the effective interest
rate ranged from 2.37% to 2.58% per annum.

RIZZZF+ZA=+—H #HFHELLZ
FEEFDHFBRERFETRHEZREEY
148,537,000 T 2 AR EHKFES (DEABB
BRRUATEINRZ MBEEE) HEFRF &
EEFRERLEET §IJHHEI’E/E}§D“%M
LAREEZF X E - FEEFIZFEF| E 5t
BE-RIZIBEF+ZA=+—H BERFANEXS
N F2.37%E2.58% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

22. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY — NON-

CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 16 April 2014, the Company issued a non-convertible
bond in a principal amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Bond”)
which is repayable on the date falling 7 years from the date
of issue of the Bond (the “Maturity Date”). The Company
has an option (the “Prepayment Option”) to repay the
outstanding principal amount of the Bond at any time before
the Maturity Date, but the bondholder shall not redeem the
Bond before the Maturity Date.

The Bond carries interest at the rate of 2% per annum
payable annually in arrears on the last day of each year from
the date of the Bond, provided that the final repayment of
the interest shall be on the Maturity Date. However, for every
10% increase in the net profit in any financial year during the
term of the Bond as compared to the immediate previous
year, the interest rate shall be increased by 1% for that
financial year and with retrospective effect. The following
year’s interest rate will be reset at 2% subject to adjustment
depending on the net profit. The interest rate during the
term shall not be less than 2% per annum and not more
than 6% per annum (the “Cap”). Details of the Bond were
set out in the Company’s announcement date 16 April
2014,

The Prepayment Option and the Cap are regarded as
embedded derivatives in the host contract. The directors
assessed the fair value of the Prepayment Option and the
Cap with reference to the valuation performed by IVL, a
firm of independent qualified professional valuers, which
assess the fair values of the Prepayment Option and the
Cap by using the Monte Carlo method and determined that
the fair value of the Prepayment Option and the Cap were
insignificant at the end of the reporting period. Accordingly,
the Prepayment Option and the Cap were not recognised in
the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2020
and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR e MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

22. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY - NON- 22. HithMBa B - F @ REs
CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED) (%)
The Bond recognised in the consolidated statements of RAEBZEEMBRARERZES
financial position of the Group is calculated as follows: STEWT
HK$’000
_ﬁﬁ
At 1 January 2019 RZZ2—-hFE—HB—H 9,899
Interest expense (note 8) MERXZ (Was) 237
Interest paid and payable B REMFE (200)

At 31 December 2019 and at 1 January 2020 R -ZT—HE+_HBA=+—HK

RZE-ZF—H—H 9,936
Interest expense (note 8) MERE (BEE8) 237
Interest paid and payable B RENFIE (200)
At 31 December 2020 R-E_FEF+°"HA=+—H 9,973
The effective interest rate of the Bond is 2.43% per annum. BHEZ2EBRFHNER2.43%-
The Bond is denominated in HK$. BHELBITEE.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. lHE &R
Present value of
Minimum minimum lease
lease payments payments
RIERERR RIEHEERRNRE
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEIRF ZhEF ZEIEF CZNF
HK’000 HK'000 HK’000 HK'000

TER TAT FER TET

Leases liabilities payable EAHREEE:
Within one year —ER 2,934 3,726 2,874 3,481
In the second to fifth year, inclusive ETEERE
(BEEERT) - 2,934 - 2,874
2,934 6,660 2,874 6,355
Less: future finance costs B RRRERK (60) (305) = -
Present value of leases liabilities HEEBNRE 2,874 6,355 2,874 6,355
Less: amount due for settlement AR —EREER
within one year HIFRIE (2,874) (3,481)
Amount due for settlement BN —EREENZIA
after one year - 2,874
Al lease liabilities are denominated in HKS$. FRIEHEa B AT E
The lease liabilities are related to lease contracts entered MEEGRHRARABEHARRBIBER
into between the Company and Hope Master and Famous @l MHope Master&ZFamous Flamingo
Flamingo which are related companies of the Company. SUNEESLNAER AN NMEFEY
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied is WEERMNEAES513% (ZEBE—NF
5.13% (2019: 5.13%). 5.13%) ©
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24.

25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR e MBI RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

SHARE CAPITAL 24. g%
2020 2019
—E°%% ZE-hE
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
Rir%E TR ! TR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREFEOETZ EBR
Authorised: 2E!
At 1 January/at 31 December R=B—-R8/
R+ZA=1+—H 100,000,000,000 1,000,000 100,000,000,000 1,000,000
2020 2019
k- S 3: 3 “E-hE
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
Kir#E TEn RiA%E TR
Issued and fully paid: ER1TRAE:
At 1 January/at 31 December R=B—-RB/
R+ZA=1+—H 700,333,925 7,003 700,333,925 7,003
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 25. EIREERE
The calculation of net asset value per share is based EREEFEADNDREAEER_-E
on net assets of the Group at 31 December 2020 of EF+ZRAR=+—HBZEEFE
approximately HK$278,243,000 (2019: HK$297,031,000) #9278,243,0008B T (ZE— L &F :
and 700,333,925 ordinary shares (2019: 700,333,925 297,031,000/ 75) /700,333,925 & &
ordinary shares) in issue. TEBEKR (ZTZE—N4F 700,333,925k
TR stE o
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 26. fERGHEETE
The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 12 ARABBERIZEZENF—A+ZHHEM
January 2009 (with supplementary amendment on 30 June —IEERENE (N2 —2EFB=1+
2010) (the “Scheme”). Under the Scheme, the directors of BrzmEsl) (T5181)) - RIEE &R
the Company may, at their absolute discretion, make an BEEUE2RNBREATMN2HEAEZEM
offer to any participant to take up the options. An offer is ERE REZEHABRAERAEEZE
deemed to have been accepted by the grantee upon the MBHERGE S URMEBEHER
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the 1B THAER BREEZZFER
offer being duly signed by the grantee and paying HK$1 by TEE WA A o

way of consideration for the grant thereof.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide participants
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company and to encourage participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the
benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The subscription price for shares in the Company under the
Scheme shall be no less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the date on
which an option is granted, (i) the average closing prices of
the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which an option is
granted and (i) the nominal value of a share of the Company
on the date on which an option is granted.

The total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 144,000,000
shares of the Company, being 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval of
the Scheme. An option may be exercised during a period to
be notified by the directors but may not be exercised after
the expiry of 10 years after the date of grant of the option.

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
participant under the Scheme in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1%
limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with such participant and his associates abstaining
from voting. The Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 12 January 2009.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

All share-based compensation are to be settled in equity.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing
the Company’s ordinary shares. The share options do
not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings. The share options under the
Scheme have no vesting period.

On 15 April 2011, the Company granted 144,000,000
share options to its directors, employees and other grantees
at an exercise price of HK$0.27 per share. The share
options granted will be exercisable from 15 April 2011 to
14 April 2021 (both dates inclusive). Particulars of the share
options granted under the Scheme were set forth in the
announcement and the circular of the Company dated 15
April 2011 and 30 May 2011 respectively.

At the end of 31 December 2019, the number of shares
in respect of which may be issued upon exercise of share
options granted and remain outstanding under the Scheme
was 900,408, representing 0.13% of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, mandatory
unconditional cash offers were made by China Lead
to cancel all outstanding share options granted by the
Company (the “Option Offer”) pursuant to the Scheme.
Since no valid acceptance under the Option Offer was
received at the closure date for acceptance of the Option
Offer, all outstanding share options not exercised or
cancelled under the Option Offer have lapsed automatically
pursuant to the Scheme.

6. fERztEstEl (48

PRERM A BERUBES T - FRE
BETEARBDEERIN  AEB L EZE
RHEESERR A IERE BR
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MEEE - EERHEMARBARYH
144,000,000 R E  ITEEASK
027TARAT - FIRBREITIN_Z——F
ME+RAHE_E_—FMWAE+IAE (8
EEEMH) PHEATE - BRRER 2
REZEREXBEHEN AR BES
MAE_E——FOB+HEHAAR-ZE——
FHERE=F+HZAEKRBRR -

R_BE—NEFE+_B=+—HFK 17
REBEFE SR EHEBERITEZ BRER
UL AT BE 2% 1T 2 B 15 B B A900,408%
EARABRRZHBEETRAEZ0.13%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 202

e+ A= t+—HiFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 26. BBIZIEEE (48)

The following table discloses the movements in share TREZBFNERE . S8 .
options during the year:

Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Lapsed asat
1 January during during during 31 December
2020 the year the year the year 2020
AZRoRE- ut Ju 22
B-8 fi=H==H
Grantee EEA WATE  ERBRE  FREGE  ERBXR WR{THE
Director EX 581,802 - - (581,802) -
Other grantees in aggregate LN 318,606 - - (318,606) -
(900,408) - - (900,408) -
Exercisable at the end of REERRATTIE
the reporting period -
Weighted average exercise price ~ JIETHTEB HK$9.748% 7T -
Number of share options
ElREZE
QOutstanding QOutstanding
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed asat
1 January during during duing 31 December
2019 the year the year the year 2019
RZE-NE RIB-NE
—A—H +-R=+-A
Grantee ERA WATE  ERERE  EREOE ERERN HAITE
Director EZ 581,802 - - - 581,802
Other grantees in aggregate LN 318,606 - - - 318,606
900,408 - - - 900,408
Exercisable at the end of REERRATTE
the reporting period 900,408
Weighted average exercise price ~ IETHTEB HK$9.748% 7T HK$9.74878 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27. ZRABIZHBRARKEFEES)

AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE

COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) TABZEFHIRRE
Company
2020 2019
—ECEE “E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERER
Non-current assets JERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BERRE 1,018 2,143
Right-of-use assets FREEE 2,733 6,198
Intangible asset B EE 1,215 1,215
Interests in subsidiaries NN 10 10
4,976 9,566
Current assets REEE
Prepayments B HIE 460 466
Other receivables Hh RN 5 5
Deposits paid B 1,059 1,062
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B /A B RS 266,702 286,260
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEEE 1,266 1,332
269,492 289,125
Current liabilities Pt i=Ri
Accruals and other payables FESHER BB EL A FE (T BR =R 632 731
Other financial liability HtHaE
— non-convertible bond — Rl G 9,973 =
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,874 3,481
13,479 4,212
Net current assets mENE ERE 256,013 284,913
Total assets less current liabilities #8& &R e & & 260,989 294,479
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 §k§:§§§¢+:ﬁ =+—HIEFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27. AT ZMBRRARK(FBEEH
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE (#&)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) EATZHMBRRAE B
Company (Continued)
2020 2019
—EER “EAF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Non-current liabilities EREAE
Other financial liability HthHBas
— non-convertible bond — RO @R ES - 9,936
Lease liabilities HESE - 2,874
- 12,810
Net assets BEFE 260,989 281,669
EQUITY i
Capital and reserves attributable N2 F#H AEILBER
to owners of the Company e
Share capital A 7,003 7,003
Reserves G 253,986 274,666
Total equity s 260,989 281,669
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of HEEER _Z_—F=H=+H
directors on 30 March 2021 and are signed on its HOERBERZETHUL T ALRE
behalf by: EEg5E
Mung Kin Keung Mung Bun Man, Alan
REsE =
Director Director
BZF BF

150 Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b) Movement of reserve of the Company

Share
premium
R fn &8
HK$'000

TET

27. ZRABRZMBRARKRFEES

(4)

(b) TABZHEE

Capital
Contributed ~ Share option  contribution Accumulated

surplus reserve reserve losses Total
BHREE BRERE HERE Rt b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T FiET TR TERT

(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)

(Hiita) (Hiztb) (izte)

At 1 January 2019 RZIE—h&—F—H 146,099 646,448 2,665 45,330 (472,623) 367,919
Loss and total comprehensive FEBBREZAERBEE

loss for the year - - - - (93,253) (93,253)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-—NE+ZA=+-HK

at 1 January 2020 RIE-_ZF—F—H 146,099 646,448 2,665 45,330 (665,876) 274,666
Loss and total comprehensive FEBBENZABBELEE

loss for the year - - - - (20,680) (20,680)
Lapse of share options BREAN = = (2,665) = 2,665 =
At 31 December 2020 W-E-S%+-A=+-H 146,099 646,448 = 45,330 (583,891) 253,986

Notes: HiaE -

The contributed surplus of the Company brought forward
represents the amount transferred from the share
premium due to the share premium reduction effective
on 23 November 2015 and various capital reduction
subsequently. Under the Bermuda Companies Act, the
contributed surplus is available for distribution. However,
the Company cannot make a distribution out of the
contributed surplus if: (i) it is, or would after the payment
be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (i)
the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than its liabilities.

@ ERARNZAMBBEKERRN G
BRIMN _ZBE—AF+—HBZ+=
BEMmBBAERNEEZMIAR
BRZEEAXH R -REEREAS
o BEERAIHIIK AT AR
BARARETNBER TR ESEFF
E K ()RS R REEEE
HeE; nEEEZZREESD
RHEE.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b) Movement of reserve of the Company
(Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

()

Share option reserve represents the fair value of services
estimated to be received in exchange for the grant of the
relevant share option over the relevant vesting periods,
the total of which is based on the fair value of the share
option at grant date. The amount for each period is
determined by spreading the fair value of the share option
over the relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised
as staff costs and related expenses with a corresponding
increase in the share option reserve.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung, a
director and substantial shareholder of the Company,
had compensated the Company from suffering loss of
deposits paid for investments in prior years, and fulfiled
his responsibility as a personal guarantee and settled all
outstanding balance of deposits paid for investments.
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(b) TRBZHEES (@)

ez - (&)

b BRERGEESNROARBRE
BTN IEMBSBEHABRBREZ
BBz AFE BB UEEEHR
BERBREZ ATERANERE T

SRz 8 IRRARMBRES
ATEREREERB (HE) D
T8 WE#R B TR KRt
2o WAHEIR S BRI -

© FTERBEAADEERFIERE
SAERBEFERREZEMR
SEEZBBEHAABELEE
THEEZ BN REBITHESE
ANERZEEIRIZIRAREERELS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following significant transactions with related
parties:

(i) Material transactions with related parties:

28. EXEALIRS

BRIt EGEMBFREEMITMBES
R REEGFIN REBEBE AT
UTEKRRS

() HREALZEXRRS:

2020 2019

—ECER “EhE

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Pt E FERT TET

Advisory fee paid/payabletoa  BEAff,/FEN—RIRAEAT

related company ZiBHE (@) 150 =
Commission and other handiing 2,/ FEft—RIRAE A F)
charge paid/ payable to a ZHAEREMFESE
related company (a) 4 6
Interest on lease liabilities paid/ ~ Bf7,/ELRAEAT Z
payable to related companies HEABRHNE (a) 245 418
Managerial and administrative B U,/ E—RRIEAF
service income received/ ZEBERMTBRBWA
receivable from a related
company (@) 35 146
Remuneration paid to close IAHFEEEEAE
family members of key TR BN
management personnel
— Salaries and other — ¥ R EMER
allowances - 20
— Retirement benefits scheme —RIKEHFT BN
contributions - 1
- 21

Note: (a) The directors of the Company, Mr. Mung and Mr.
Mung Bun Man, Alan, have beneficial interests in
the related companies.

Wiz (a FRBEFRRLEREMXE
EREAREA B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. EXFAEALRZS (8B)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(i) Compensation of key management (i) FEEEBASZHMEHE
personnel remuneration
Compensation for key management personnel, FTEEEBEABZHE GFEENR
including amount paid to the Company’s directors, NBABEE FETHRABRETR
chief executive and certain of the highest paid BEHMNES WMFREMBRERMEE

29.

employees, as disclosed in note 11 to the FTIREE) 2 8BUWT .
consolidated financial statements, is as follow:

2020 2019

=W = “E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

T#Ex FET

Salaries and other allowances e R B AL 6,294 5,570
Retirement benefits scheme BRIRBH ETEHFR

contributions 44 43

6,338 5,613

The remuneration of directors, chief executive officer EE THRILRFEEEAEZ
and key management personnel is determined by HFMOHFNEZEZRIBMEARE
the remuneration committee having regard to the KIS ERAMEE -

performance of individuals and market trends.

(ili) Details of the balance with related companies at (i) NS AREBEQR CEBRZFF
the end of the reporting period are set out in notes B REHRERE T BEREME18R
18 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements 23 e
respectively.
RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 29. BAEFIETE
The Group operates MPF Scheme under rules and KEFRERFIMELABEENER 2R
regulations of Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes AIRROAEMBEEARERERIIARES
Ordinance for all employees employed in Hong Kong. e AEBBREEREEEHMAAT
The Group has chosen to follow the minimum statutory BNEEREESRBEBWAZSRHER
contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’ B8R WA LRAETE 230,000
monthly relevant income but limited to the mandatory cap HANREEREFEGEmKRIARk -RE
of HK$30,000. The contributions are charged to profit or SHECEERAER CEEDHT
loss as incurred. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held BuH—EREIEEESFB-

separately from those of the Group in an independently
administrative fund.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

30. MEXBEEZEB/ZHIR

TRFLAEEREXFELEZERZ
D URRENIFRTEH -REXH
EEZEREHRESREECHNRKREE
MEBRRNAEBGEREABERDES
MEXTELEZRETREZER

Other
financial
liability-
non-
Margin convertible
loan from bond
securities Htr
Interest broker Leases MEaE-
payable Fickz it liabilities A8k Total
FEfFIE HEEM HEafR &% b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT THET TET TERT
At 1 January 2019 RI2-nE—F—H 143 1,635 9,663 9,899 21,340
Financing cash flows HERERE (765) (1,635) (3,308) = (5,708)
Non-cash changes FHEEH
Interest expenses recognised (0te §)  ERESAFIERY
(Hiz28) 765 - - a7 802
At 31 December 2019 and RIZ2-NF+ZA=1+—H
1 January 2020 kRZZ-%&5—-F—H 143 - 6,355 9,936 16,434
Financing cash flows HERERE (642) 28,157 (3,481) - 24,034
Non-cash changes FHEEH
Interest expenses recognised (ote §)  BHESAFIERX
(H1:28) 642 - - 37 679
At 31 December 2020 R-BE_EE
+=RA=+-H 143 28,157 2,874 9,973 41,147
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks
through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary
course of operations and in its investment activities.
Financial risks include market risk (including interest rate
risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk, other price risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
focuses on unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by key management under the policies approved by the
board of directors. The Group does not have written risk
management policies. However, the board of directors meet
regularly and co-operate closely with key management
to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies
to manage financial risks. The Group has not used any
derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes and
has not held or issued derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The most significant risks to which the

Group is exposed to are described below.

31.1 Categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
financial instruments mainly consisted of other
receivables, deposit paid, amount due from a related
company, financial assets at FVTPL, cash and cash
equivalents, accruals and other payables, lease
liabilities and other financial liability — non-convertible

bond.
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31.

MERBREERATEHAE

FEBRAREBREEERERRETH
KREEHRCERAME TAMAE RS ERM
HREKE M REEEETRREE (B1EF)
XRERIINERE) - EERRE EME
WA ETREM ~EBR ZBE
RREEREIEEMmBE s AIBER M
TERFGHRERUBRFZ BT AF
TERERB -EREERTIZEEA
BERBESEMEZHRET A&EH
TEREARBEERK AM EFEE
HEFTEEEBEAECHIZNERER
&1 U A B a7 B B A & Bl 5] &
BUMBRAB R AEBILEMBHAE
ATETAEFEMTAEEEFAE &
TERFEERETTEMBIAREEER

RoAEBIEHZETERRNTX

s 5m o

N1 BEERMBAEZER

RRERFR AEBZHMBITAREE
ZEREAMEKRER -ENEZES

FEW—FERAER B RIBE - BEBER

BRURAFEINRZHMFEEE-RE
RIREEEEE BiRAKEM
FENERT -HEaBUREMFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. MBAMEERATEHE (&)

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.1 Categories of financial assets and N1UFEERMBEFEZER
financial liabilities (Continued) (48)
The carrying amounts presented in the Group’s REEBZGEEVBERRIEESNZ
consolidated statement of financial position relate REEREUTYBEERYBEE
to the following categories of financial assets and EhAR

financial liabilities:

2020 2019
—ECEH “E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE7T FET
———— 0 0077
Financial assets MHEE
Amortised cost HEH A
— Other receivables — H fhFE U BR =X 2,027 2,576
— Deposits paid —BffEE 1,060 1,062
— Amount due from a related — BN —EAEARR
company 5 51 84
— Cash and cash equivalents —RENREEEER 2,681 3,857
Financial assets at FVTPL FHimEm IR AT ESER
ZHMBEE 299,630 316,419
305,449 323,998
Financial liabilities MEBafR
Accruals and other payables FESTBR AU E i FE (T BR R 28,788 26,216
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,874 6,355
Other financial liability Hith B aEd
— non-convertible bond — e EAES 9,973 9,936
41,635 42,507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.2 Market risk

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances and variable-
rate margin loan from securities broker. The Group
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of interest rates on the margin loan from
securities broker. The Group manages its interest rate
exposures by assessing the potential impact arising
from any interest rate movements based on interest
rate level and outlook. The Group has not used any
financial instrument to hedge potential fluctuations in
interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease
in variable-rate margin loan from securities broker is
used. Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity
analysis as the management considers that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

At 31 December 2020, if interest rates of margin loan
from securities broker had been 50 basis point higher/
lower, with all other variables remain constant, the post-
tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$118,000.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. MBAREERATFEHAE (B)

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.2Market risk (Continued) 1.2 AR (4B)
Foreign currency risk Ih 8 B bR
The Group operates in Hong Kong and majority of KEBREBEERAITDZZ U
transactions are denominated in HK$, USD and BT ETEARE (TAR®)) 5
Renminbi (‘RMB”"). Foreign currency risk arises from BoSNERBBIRBRREERZ
future commercial transactions, recognised assets EEREERER (ULFAEE
and liabilities, which are denominated in a currency MEEE M 2 GIEEHE) ©

that is not the functional currency of the Group.

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying RERSHER  REBUINESE
amounts of the monetary assets and liabilities of the 2EBRBEERBEZRIBENT

Group, which are denominated in foreign currencies,
are as follows

Liabilities Assets
aff BE
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEI%F “FT-NF ZBEIFE “ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FHRT TET

RMB UNESE - - - 114
usD E7T 669 - 12,200 56,033
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk AEBLEBEEEEBTRETLZ

in respect of HK$ against the USD as long as this SN B B o TR B e S KN o

currency is pegged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)
31.2Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% increase and decrease in HK$ against RMB.
5% is the sensitivity rate used which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A negative
number below indicates an increase in pre-tax loss
where HK$ strengthens 5% against RMB. For a 5%
weakening of HK$ against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss

and the balances below would be positive.

3. HERAKREEBRRATFENE @)

31.2HiIBEEE (&

SRS (48)

AEEBATARLLSNESHEZE
EREEHENEHPER K E
B = ) B R E SN LR o MR Y
BEREREZEH PERINEREE-

BREDH

TRAVNAERHBTRARKE L
FRTBE5%ZBEE 5% 4 TR
BZBHEX 'EEBHEX
FEHIRZ 6 BEF 2 H BEHE
DITESERTRUINEHEZE
WIBE > WHRREHARES %2 EX
EHAEREBE  TRZEBHEXN
BTRARBAHESKEFRRAES
BREMz#B - HBLRERER
B2 {E5% Rl EHEIBIEmMEBEE
RzZ&2> MU THERERES-

2020 2019
=L
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiH T

If HK$ strengthens against
RMB by 5%

If HK$ weakens against
RMB by 5%

HB TR ARBIHES%

WAL ARBEES%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31.2Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Management considered the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign currency risk
as the exposure at the end of each reporting period
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity and debt securities measured
at FVTPL. For equity and debt securities measured
at FVTPL quoted in relevant stock exchange, the
directors manage this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks. In addition,
the Group also invested in certain equity securities
listed in relevant stock exchange without quoted
market price, unlisted equity and debt securities
for investees operating in different industry sectors
and unlisted investment funds which had been
classified as financial assets at FVTPL. The Group has
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should the
need arise.

To manage its market price risk arising from these
investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance
with the limits set by the board of directors.

The policies to manage other price risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

31. RERAKEERATFENE B

31.2HIG A K (48)

SMEEBE (4%

WRES R (8)

EEER S ARSREHRZAE
Al R R BRF N 2 BB E&&}E&FE
737Fﬁ7r ELREA IMNE R -

Hth{E 1 EpE

FEBRERBBEBERIRUATE
FEZRAREBEEESZKRER
FERRERE N EEESZ
FFrRBBEmRUATEFEZ
BRAREHRESMe  EFBBHE
FETARBNEEHRSUEIEZ

BBt REBITKERET
T:E*E%ﬁaﬂ RET LMz RAFES
(EMIZHRE) RN AEITZEEM
KEEBNHEREABINIFELTR
AREBESFRFLTRERES
(ZEBFREBEHEATIBEE
HERUAFEIRNMBEE) °
AEBEEZETEEBERERER
B TRRERERET EH DR

2N
oo O
2

AEEREREAREL HEAM
B AEEHMEEBAS - HH
H % A A R EE E G S5 R S
15 o

AEEEBEFEUR—EEBTE

HEMERERE 2 BR > I8 48Z
FHRBAM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.2Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of
the reporting period. Sensitivity analyses for certain
equity securities listed in relevant stock exchange
without quoted market price, unlisted equity and
debt securities and unlisted investment funds with fair
value measurement categorised within Level 3 were
disclosed in note 31.5 to the consolidated financial
statements. For sensitivity analysis of equity and debt
securities with fair value measurement categorised
within Level 1, the sensitivity rate is 35% in 2020
(2019: 35%) as a result of the volatile financial market.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 35% (2019: 35%) higher/lower, the post-tax
loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$86,055,000
(2019: increase/decrease by HK$88,134,000) as a
result of the changes in fair value of listed equity and
debt securities classified as financial assets at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31. BHRABRERRAFENE @

31.3 Credit risk and impairment assessment

31.3 5 & AR B iml {E 5T Ak

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to other receivables, deposits paid, amount due from
a related company and bank balances. The Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The directors considered the credit risk of the Group’s
other receivables, deposit paid and amount due from
a related company are relatively low as they have a low
risk of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term.

The Group deposited its bank balances with approved
and reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of
the banks may cause the Group’s right with respect
to bank balances held to be delayed or limited.
Management of the Company monitors the credit
rating of these banks on an ongoing basis, and
considers that the Group’s exposure to credit risk at
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 were
minimal.

The Group does not have any other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

R TEEERTE-AE+TTA
=t+t—H ' AEELEFEEMR
W HEMEE TEUEEEAR
BEEMEBZEERR TEEZ
EERREEREHMBUIRM
BENEE - BR—FERAEATRE
RIBTHEGF AERRXZHFR
BERTEEMRHAEREMYH
BRZEAXEERK  HRBEKRE
MBRREMISECHRIEMBE
EZIREIE

EERD AEBEHEMBRERSR
ENREKREWR—EREQRREA
ZEERBEERE RESZF
HMEAMENEREZETARBRK
SENNEHTHEGHNRERES
Fo

AEERKHBITEGRT RN ERT
REEBRFZIRITT ZFIRTHWE
HENDERNEEREAEET
FIRTTHERZ BN T EHZ EIIR
fleARBEEBEREERILES
RITZEEFHR UBR/EERR
—_EEHE+_RB=+—HRERZIE
—NE+ZB=+T—HFERRZE
EREBREM -

rEERTEEINEMERERER

B -zEEERBRNDETEREE
BEEo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)
31.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not
be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash
or another financial asset. The Group is exposed to
liquidity risk in respect of settlement of accruals and
other payables, lease liabilities and other financial
liability-non-convertible bond and also in respect of
its cash flow management. The Group’s objective
is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets
and committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group
since prior years and are considered to have been

effective in managing liquidity risks.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual

31. MBAEREERATENE (@)

4R EEERE

MEIE & B R, A E R AE
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%?ﬁ%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁ

THEEEEREEZRRERM-
K%EE%%%%%%&E@%M
R HEREREMPBFEGE -
Fr@MESUATEREREERE
FHEAERHETRAR NEEZ
ERERER R BEEREAKKES
RBEKTE LinmE HERR R
TMEMEEEK

AEBBBEFFEUR—BEETR
@J:ﬁfﬂlﬁ WRABZERRETE
/)IL@Jﬁ%HB HETZBM

UTDhmEsEBZIFTEMHE

maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities, B R GENEBER  HPIRE
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash EHNRTERERENAEERBES
flows and the earliest date the Group can be required tTRMEZEFAH:
to pay:
Weighted Total
average contractual
effective Within undiscounted
interest  one year or cash flow
rate  on demand Within ~ More than 1) Carrying
MEFEY —ERE 2-5 years S5years kITERE amount
BRAE BERX ZZEifpR BARE HEME IREE
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EF+-A=+-H TERT THERT TR TR TERT
Non-derivative financial FTEHFEEE
liabilities:
Accruals and other payables FESH AR A R ELth FE AT BR AR
~Margin loan from —BFRERREN
securities broker 2.09 28,157 - - 28,157 28,157
- Other accruals and —HhEsH R K
other payables HAPEIERTT - 631 - - 631 631
Lease liabilities HEER 513 2,934 - - 2,934 2,874
Other financial liability HiEaE
— non-convertible bond —AO@ERESs 2.43 10,400 - - 10,400 9,973
42,122 - - 42,122 41,635
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2019

Weighted
average
effective Within
interest  one year or
rate ondemand
miEFs —&ERg
BRAE EER
% HK$'000
RIE-N&F+ZA=1+—H TERT

31. HERAKEERRATFENE &)

31.4REBEE R ()

Total

contractual

undiscounted

cash flow
Within More than a1 Carrying
2-5 years Syears KITERE amount
ZERER BEREF MERE fREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTET TET FTET

Non-cerivative financial labilties: FTEHEEE
Accruals and other payables FE T AR R ELth FE T BR AR - 26,216 - - 26,216 26,216
Lease liabilties HESR 5.13 3,726 2,934 = 6,660 6,355
Other financial liability Htti e s
— non-convertible bond — RO EhES 2.43 200 10,400 - 10,600 9,936
30,142 13,334 = 43476 42,507

The Group considers expected cash flows from
financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity
risk, in particular, its cash resources and other liquid
assets that readily generate cash. The Group’s
existing cash resources and other liquid assets
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.

FEERAGEREERDET AR
REBMBEEZRSREME
BHEREERREZELEREZ
HtWRBEE - cEBZRAHRSE
BERAEMABEEREBHES
M BIRRE ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31. MBAEREERATENE (@)

SISHMBITAZATE

FTEBBEEBELUATEAEZHM
BEEZAFE

31.5Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial assets measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified

TREVNAEFANREARRESE
BEEGECHMBEEZATE H
TR BEBYHREERFBI13KAF
B BFRAEE DR RAFER
B nNFEFEBEDZERILER
HERTS2ZBAEZIRELER

is determined with reference to the observability EEMETUWT

and significance of the inputs used in the valuation

technique as follows:

e Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using s F—ERMGE: LQFEESER

E—EBBAESE BERSAE
EXEENFEBEANERED
B REHERE ;

only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date;

e Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using e F_ERXRMEE:AQAFEEMER
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which F_EBWAEE BERFTE
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant F—EBARNEEHABEAL
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are EBEAEATIERBAE
input for which market data are not available; ARG ABARTIHEIE

and

° Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 E — L " ZF+ "B =+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

31. HERAKEERRATFENE &)

(CONTINUED)
31.5Fair value of financial instruments M15MBIARAZAFE B
(Continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EF+-A=+—-A H—-EX BZBR B=EBR EeHy
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FTER FTERT FER

Fair value on a recurring basis BRSEEEHEZATE

Financial assets at FVTPL BRBRAKRUATEYRZ
HHEE

— listed equity and debt securities — E MR AR ERE 245,872 - - 245,872
— unlisted equity and debt securities —JEEmRAEKERSE - - 24,180 24,180
— unlisted investment funds —FLHREESE - - 29,578 29,578
245,872 - 53,758 299,630
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+-A=+-H %—B=X FIBX FZER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET FET FAET

Fair value on a recurring basis BRERENEZ ATE

Financial assets at FVTPL BEBHRUATESR

JHBEE

- listed equity and delot securities — ERARERES 251,812 = 110 251,922
- unlisted equity securities — 3 EmREES - - 41,338 41,338
— unlisted investment funds —FLEHREESE = = 23,159 23,159
251,812 - 64,607 316,419
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.5Fair value of financial instruments

(Continued)

The majority of listed equity and debt securities are
denominated in HK$ and USD. Fair values have
been determined by reference to their quoted market
closing prices at the end of the reporting period and
have been translated using the spot foreign currency
rates at the end of the reporting period where
appropriate.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified professional valuers to perform
the valuation. The management works closely with
the independent qualified valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The management reports the findings to the
directors at the end of each reporting period to explain
the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the asset.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3.
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SISHMBIAZATE (&

RED EHRAKRBHZFTHIRE
TTRETIE - AFELE2ERS
RBREMRZFABWTHEEE > B
BEERARBREMRERZRNERSNE
ERRE -

G ATER AEERARE
BRZTHABEREFE - HAREE
WE—RBRzoAEB MEEERE
ZRBYCERERGLEMETRE
B-EEBHBISERMGLEME
PIBIF URIUBR 2 EERM KR
REZHAB EEENRSREH
RKAOEFERGER UBEBEER
FEREBZEREA-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. UBEAKREERATFENE (B
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
31.5Fair value of financial instruments M15MBIARAZAFE B
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BERE=ZBRATFEAEZEH
Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
Valuation input inputs to fair value

techniques FART BARTHEZHAR
fh{ER BREaAE EATEZME

At 31 December 2020
g > -

+=ZBA=+-H
Unlisted equity securities JE LRSS Market Average, exclude The average, exclude
approach and outliers P/E outliers P/E multiples
share value multiples of is positively correlated
allocation 30.7 to the fair value
model T8 (BHER  measurement of the
MIZERBHDE D mREGEE  unlisted equity securities
ENERE 30.7 T (ERERIN TR
TABHEIE F TR AN
HZ AT EFEZER
£
Average P/S The average P/S multiples
multiples of is positively correlated
4.8 to the fair value
S SIS measurement of the
B84.8 unlisted equity securities
THmHREEIE T
BAES 2 A TESE
ENE]

Marketability of ~ The discount rate is
discount rate of  negatively correlated
20.6% to the fair value

i mEE measurement of the
rEEZX20.6%  unlisted equity securities

ERAIE FmRAES
Z A TESEZEE8ERH
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 ﬁﬁ:gﬁgﬁ-}—:ﬁ =+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. UBAKRERERATENE B)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
31.5Fair value of financial instruments M15MBIARAZATFE B
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements ERE=BRATFEAEZEF (4B)
(Continued)
Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
Valuation input inputs to fair value

techniques EAFRT EAFUHBRAE
b E R BRaAE BATEZRE

Expected The expected volatility is
volatility of positively correlated
59.6% to 76.0% to the fair value

TEHAR1B59.6%E  measurement of the
76.0% unlisted equity securities

AR IBEIE EM R ANEE
E#EZ’A%E%%%HH

Risk free rate The risk free rate is
of 0.097% to negatively correlated

0.316% to the fair value

R fn A= measurement of the
0.097% % unlisted equity securities
0.316% R bR ==k F R A

BEZATEHESS
el

Asset-based Net asset value  The net asset value is
approach BEEFE positively correlated
HE to the fair value

measurement of the

unlisted equity securities
HESEEE FhRAS

%Z’&Wﬁﬁ%iﬂﬁ
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. UBEAKREERATFENE (B
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
31.5Fair value of financial instruments M15MBIARAZAFE B
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BRE=ZBRXATEAZEZEF (B)
(Continued)
Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
Valuation input inputs to fair value

techniques BART EAFIHBRAE
fhER HRBAME BNTEZRE

Unlisted debt securities JEEMmERES Discounted Equity value of  The equity value of Issuer
cashflow Issuer is positively correlated
method BT ARAEBE  to the fair value

MRREREE measurement of the

unlisted debt securities

BHARSBERF LD

BRES 2 AT EFE
2 1FERE
Discount rate of  The discount rate is
8.5% negatively correlated
ITEEZB.5% to the fair value

measurement of the
unlisted debt securities
IR L ERES

ZATHEFEEZEER
Unlisted investment funds FLHREES Net asset value ~ Netasset value  The net asset value is
BEZE BERE positively correlated
to the fair value

measurement of the
unlisted investment
funds
BEPEEFLITHRER
%Z’A‘?ﬁfﬁﬁ%iﬂﬁ
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 E —E " ZF+ "B =+—HItFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. UBAKRERERATENE B)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
31.5Fair value of financial instruments M15MBIARAZATFE B
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BRE=ZBRXATEAZEZEF (B)
(Continued)
Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
Valuation input inputs to fair value

techniques BART EAFUHBRAE
fhER HRBAME BATEZRE

At 31 December 2019

R_B—N&E
+ZA=1+—H
Suspended trading securiies ~ E{EE &R Market Minimum P/B- The minimum P/B
listed in Hong Kong EBELMZES approach multiples of multiples is positively
Mz 0.6 correlated to the fair
BEHIREMEH  value measurement of
0.6 the suspended trading
securities listed in Hong
Kong
RIETREGHETEE
BRNEELHZESZ
AF{E B2 AR
Marketability of ~ The discount rate is
discount rate of  negatively correlated
20.6% to the fair value
TIHREEIE  measurement of the
#20.6% suspended trading
securities listed in Hong
Kong
TEXEAEEENEE
Fiiz@s 2 ATER
=2 8718
Unlisted equity securities JEEHRAEE S Market Median P/E The median P/E multiples
approach and multiples of is positively correlated
share value 12.7 to the fair value
allocation PEHERE  measurement of the
model #12.7 unlisted equity securities
minE RO E RS HERGEHEI £
(EDaN ] mRAES 2 AT EE
EZ21F8RE
Lower quartile P/S The lower quartile P/S
multiples of multiples is positively

3.0 correlated to the fair
BEAMIHEEE  value measurement
B#3.0 of the unlisted equity
securities
RO i R AF R TE
LR AFESZ A THE
STE2EHER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. UERAKEERATENE (B)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
31.5Fair value of financial instruments M15MBIARAZAFE B
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BRE=ZBRXATEAZEZEF (B)
(Continued)
Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
Valuation input inputs to fair value

techniques BART EAFIHBRAE
fhER HRBAME BNTEZRE

Unlisted investment funds

Marketability of ~ The discount rate is
discount rate of  negatively correlated

20.6% to the fair value
TIZRENENE  measurement of the
*20.6% unlisted equity securities
R B R A
Z AT ESTEEE1ER
Expected The expected volatility is
volatility of positively correlated

52.5% 10 68.2%  to the fair value
TEHIRIE52.5%%  measurement of the
68.2% unlisted equity securities
TEHR R IR ESE T AR ANGE
%Z’AW@H%EHE

Risk free rate of ~ The risk free rate is
1.68% to 1.74% negatively correlated
7 B FZR1.68%  to the fair value
£1.74% measurement of the
unlisted equity securities

BERA XA LHRE

Br 2 ATEFEZR
sl
Asset-based Net asset value  The net asset value is
__approach BEEFE positively correlated
BE% to the fair value

measurement of the

unlisted equity securities
BEFEEIELTHRASE

%Z’AEF{E%%%HE

FLEMKREREE Net asset value  Net assetvalue  The net asset value is
BEFE BEEFE positively correlated
to the fair value
measurement of the
unlisted investment funds
EEFEHEFELIMRER
%Z’D@FE%EEE*B
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =S = T&E+ =B =+—HIt &

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31.5Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

Information about the valuation techniques used in
determining the fair value of the suspended trading
securities, unlisted equity securities and unlisted
investment funds are disclosed above.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into and
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the
events or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

The following table presents the changes in fair value

3. HERAKREEBRRATFENE @)

15MBIRAZATE B

ERE=BRATEFEZEHN (&)

EFHEEEEFEEESS FLEHR
ABSERIIFLTREERESZAFE
FiERZEERMZERTIR EX
REE -

AEBZBRBEDHEERNEH
ZEHHNBERBEBRZATEE
RZEBAHEE -

TREVNDERE=ZEBREEZY

of financial assets which are classified as Level 3 BEEZATEEE !
valuations:
HK$’000
TER
At 1 January 2019 A\ZE—-hF—H—H 61,207
Investment in unlisted equity securities FELEMRABSKE 3,900
Loss arising in change in fair value of financial assets EBERRUAFEIRZ PHEEA
at FVTPL TEEHEL 2B (500)
At 31 December 2019 and at 1 January 2020 A\ ZE-AF+ZA=+—HBKRZZEZ
TE—HF—H 64,607
Investment in unlisted debt securities FLETRERESKE 2,340
Disposal of unlisted equity securities Hj&%J:FEHQ KBS (22,730)
Gain arising in change in fair value of financial ~ FBEHKRUAFETERZHHFEER
assets at FVTPL TEEHEE 2 W 9,541
At 31 December 2020 R-E_EF+°_A=+—H 53,758
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _TF+_HB=+—HILFEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31.5Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair value at 31 December 2020
and 2019.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group, prevailing and projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue of new
shares or redemption of existing shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

31. MBAREERATENE (&

NS5HBEITRZATE (&

IR EBEAF B TEZEER
HBEEERMBAEAZATE

NCECEER-F—HAE+H
S+—B REEAETIE 8B
AERMHAEZREERRS
AFELBEAER

32. BAXEIR

rEREAEEZBERARAREAEEE
BARENUFEREEZE DUEBRE
WARFTAA O o

A B R B R B A
o URRELESRBRREER
HEREENAEE I RREARE
B A R B B A B S R R At R RS IR 1
& o A B BRI R R TR o

WMERFUFABELRRE  NEBE D] AEH
BXNTFREZREEZE -ARERREM
BABTHROXBRIIES KRGS H
EEEMNREAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 &% =2 et A+ AEE

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 32. BEXEIE (B

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital KREEZHEETINHEMZ BEARFRE o

requirements.

AEBZEARBRERFR (HBERE
EaREREMPHFEE - T BRES)
o 1 mn MR ER AR B o

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts
(which includes lease liabilities and other financial liability —
non-convertible bond) and total equity.

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period are as RBESHRZEEEBLLRTNT !

follows:

2020 2019

—ECEH S il E

HK$’000 HK$ 000

TR TFAET

Total debts (note) B 4BRE (IaE) 12,847 16,291
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERIREEEIER (2,681) (3,857)
Net debt B 388 10,166 12,434
Total equity R 1% 278,243 297,031
Net debt to equity ratio B FREH ML= 3.7% 4.2%
Total debt to equity ratio B HRER R EE X 4.6% 5.5%

i EHREEEEaEREMEFaG -
R E RS-

Note: Total debts comprises lease liabilities and other financial liability
— non-convertible bond.

176 Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E —_ T _ZF+_H=+—HILEE

33. INVESTMENT

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all
investments with a value greater than 5% of the Group’s
gross assets and at least 10 largest investments at 31
December 2020 and 2019 respectively as follows:

At 31 December 2020

33. &

B EHRE21128THZIBE
REBFEN _E_SEFEFKR_Z—HIF
+ZBA=+—BREEGEBALEEE
ERE % REURRIM0BERAKRE
A IE 3 I

R-E-ZEH+=-H=+—H

Market value/
fair value
at31
December
Percentage  Net assets 2020
of equity attributable RZEZZE
interest to the +-H
held Company Cost of =+-A8 Dividend
FSERE  AAEME  investment 2/ received
3R BERE RERF AFE B E
Name of investments Notes % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RELE g TAER TER TER TAERT
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong EELTRDES
Alibaba Group Holding Limited MEBEERERERAT (a) below 0.01 10,155 42,337 39,775 401
{£720.01
Brockman Mining Limited Broc+k+man Mining Limited (b) 291 19,593 44,597 29,440 -
hRRERERRAT
Kaisa Group Holdings Limited EREERERERAR © 0.10 27,273 22,021 22,585 1,230
China SCE Group Holdings Limited TRERZRERAR (d) 0.14 49,212 20,570 18,618 397
China Aoyuan Group Limited TEEREERNERAR () 0.07 44,148 14,208 13,964 -
Times China Holdings Limited BREEZERERAR ] 0.08 34,412 18,428 16,903 -
Listed equity securities outside Hong Kong  Z# M 5b 2 LA
So-Young International Inc. So-Young International Inc. @) 0.22 6,815 16,839 15,607 -
Bilibili Inc. EIRRERHERAR (h) below 0.01 503 5,780 12,938 -
{&R%0.01
Unlisted equity securities outside Hong ~ F#MSb 2 Ik EhilRasiE %
Kong
Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc. .
~ Preference shares —BER f) NARER  NARER 11,700 8,629 -
Unlisted investment funds outside Hong ~ F#EMSZIELHIREEE
Kong
Click Ventures Segregated Portfolio Company  Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company
— Fund Series 3T SP —Fund Series 3T SP 0 NAFRER  NATER 7,800 20,465 -
204,280 198,924
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 &% =2 et A+ AEE

33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED) 33. 88 (&)

At 31 December 2019 REE—NEfF N = H
Market

value/fair

value at 31

December

Percentage  Net assets 2019
ofequity attributable AZE-NE

interest tothe +-8

held Company Cost of =SR] Dividend

FAEREA AATEME  investment  ZHE/ received

BmANE BEZE REMA NEE BRE

Name of investments % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RELE TAT TERT TER TERr

Listed equity and debt securitiesin Hong Kong & LA R ERES

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited EKBERERAT 0.04 17,858 20,122 16,138 740
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited 2.93 18,091 44,597 35,652 -
hRREEEERAR

China Information Technology FEIEERKERBRAR 3.32 13,392 26,435 15,959 -
Development Limited

China State Construction International HERAEEEEERAR 0.04 19,177 19,562 13,466 533
Holdings Limited

Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited BMEBERERAT NATEBRE  NATEBE 15,600 15,758  N/ATER

Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited ~ ZEzEBE SR S4B RAT 1.16 9,630 82,330 17,160 -

Kaisa Group Holdings Limited ENREEBERERAT 0.17 85,536 37,008 37,966 1,217

Listed debt securities outside Hong Kong FAM Nz EHERR

Seazen Group Limited M ERERERAT NAREBE NATEHR 23,317 23373  NATER

Unlisted equity securities outside Hong Kong ~ E#ELUNZ IE LR RAES

Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc.
— Preference shares —BEK NARER  NATER 11,700 13,354 =

Unlisted investment funds outside Hong Kong ~ &EEMSMNZIELHRERES
Click Ventures Segregated Portfolio Company  Click Ventures Segregated

Portfolio Company
- Fund Series 3T SP —Fund Serigs 3T SP NATER  NARER 7,800 17,043 -

288,561 205,869

*EHEE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HiZE —E -"ZFF+_F=+—HIEFE

33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@

Alibaba Group Holding Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (stock code: 09988) and on the New York
Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) (symbol: BABA). Alibaba Group
Holding Limited is principally engaged in core commerce, cloud
computing, digital media and entertainment and innovation
initiatives and others.

For the nine months ended 31 December 2020, the
unaudited consolidated profit attributable to the owners of
the company was approximately RMB155,944,000,000 and
its unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB1,082,354,000,000.

Brockman Mining Limited was incorporated in Bermuda and
its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00159). Brockman Mining Limited is principally engaged in the
acquisition, exploration and development of iron ore in Australia.

For the six months ended 31 December 2020, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately HK$2,261,000 and its unaudited consolidated
net assets was approximately HK$673,133,000.

Kaisa Group Holdings Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 01638). Kaisa Group Holdings Limited is principally
engaged in property development, property investment,
property management, hotel and catering operations, cinema,
department store and cultural centre operations, water-way
passenger and cargo transportation and healthcare business in
the PRC.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately RMB5,447,125,000 and
its audited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB78,719,374,000.
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33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continueq)

@)

China SCE Group Holdings Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 01966). China SCE Group Holdings Limited is
principally engaged in property development, commercial
management, property management and rental apartments
business.

For the six months ended 30 June 2020, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately RMB2,114,397,000 and
its unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB30,071,649,000.

China Aoyuan Group Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 03883). China Aoyuan Group Limited is principally
engaged in property development and property investment.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately RMB5,907,550,000 and
its audited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB54,252,646,000.

Times China Holdings Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 01233). Times China Holdings Limited is principally
engaged in property development, urban redevelopment
business, property leasing and property management.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately RMB4,941,190,000 and
its audited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB35,883,414,000.
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33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

©

So-Young International Inc. was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Nasdaqg Global Market
(“NASDAQ”) (stock symbol: SY). So-Young International Inc. is
principally engaged in provision of Information and Reservation
services in the medical aesthetics industry in PRC.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately RMB5,807,000 and its
unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB2,619,576,000.

Bilibili Inc. was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the NASDAQ (stock symbol: BILI) and on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 09626). Bilibili Inc. is principally
engaged in online entertainment platform that in provision of
internet information services internet audio-visual program
services in PRC.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately RMB3,011,704,000 and its audited consolidated
net assets was approximately RMB7,782,204,000.

Oddup Inc. was incorporated in the United States of America
and is principally engaged in operating a research platform that
provides analytical information on startups, their trends, and
both current and expected future valuations.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the unaudited loss
attributable to the owners of the company was approximately
US$1,822,000 and its unaudited net assets was approximately
US$15,426,000.

Fund Series 3T SP operates by Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
Fund Series 3T SP is principally invested in start-ups at the seed
to series A stage in Hong Kong and internationally.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the unaudited
net assets attributable to holders was approximately
US$2,624,000.
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34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. fiBATIHE
TRITEERATELEAREEES
REEZAATINBAT BEERA
Hi B AT S H e EREEBR
=

The following table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, results in
particulars of excessive length.

Proportion of
ownership interest and

Country/place voting power Principal
of incorporation Issued and fully paid held by the Company activities and
Name of subsidiary sEM B AL Type of legal entity share capital FARFRFEN place of operations
MBARRIE BX/ e ERRIRER BETRERRS BEERRRELS  FEEBREEME
Directly Indirectly
Ei% if
Apex Cheer Investments Limited British Virgin Islands  Limited liability company USD1 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
Apex Cheer Investments Limited HBRIHE BREAAR 15T REEREZER
City King Investments Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
RPREERAH B BREFEAR 187 REBREER
Full Long Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  Limited liability company USD1 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
AR B RAR HBEUEE BREFEAR E REBREER
Genius Hill Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
LHEBRRAF B BREFEAR 187 REBREER
Mega Way International Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$10,000 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BRERERAR B BREFRT 10,0007 7T REBREER
Sky Champion Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding in
Hong Kong
HIEERAR B BREAEAR 187 REBREER
White Venture Capital Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding in
Hong Kong
TR ABRAR B BREAEAR 187 REBREER
Fortune Express Group Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BIEBXERAH B BREFEAR 187 REBREER

RBREMAXFREAFE WE QT
BEAAERERE 2 EHES-

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the
year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Reference was made to the Company’s joint
announcement dated 19 March 2021 in relation to
mandatory unconditional cash offer by China Lead to
acquire all the issued shares of the Company. On 27
January 2021, Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, a director of the
Company, completed the acquisition of China Lead which
holds 351,230,025 shares of the Company, approximately
50.15% equity interest in the Company. On the same day
after the completion, Mr. Mung, a director of the Company,
transferred 53,696,000 Shares and China Tian Di Xing
Logistics Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong in which Mr. Mung holds 99.99% equity
interests and Ms. Sin Lai Ni, spouse of Mr. Mung holds
0.01% equity interest, transferred 104,858,000 shares to
the China Lead. China Lead owned 509,784,025 shares,
representing approximately 72.79% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March
2021.

35.

36.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

—HibEE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+"A=+-HLEE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ST vt ST SRS E SVERSER e\ SEEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TERT

Results £
Revenue i 5,557 3,409 3,461 6,028 6,037
(Loss)/profit before income tax ~ BRFT1S#330 (B518) /& (87,070) 26,468 (141,223) (91,295) (18,792)
Income tax expense FrigifX - - - - -
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (BB /afl (87,070) 26,468 (141,223) (91,295) (18,792)

At 31 December

®+=-B=+—-H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
“E-RE Rt F —E-N\E —E-AE —E-EHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAET FTER FET FER
Total assets BEE 548,659 545,474 419,730 339,538 319,878
Total liabilities BEEE (57,455) (26,256) (31,408) (42,507) (41,635)
Net assets BEZE 491,204 519,218 388,325 297,031 278,243
Total equity A% 491,204 519,218 388,325 297,031 278,243
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